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Chief executive Sue Turner and chairman Peter Marquis celebrate achieving FT status.

Welcome from our chairman
and chief executive
We are pleased to introduce you to our annual
report for Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health
NHS Foundation Trust for the nine month period
from July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009.

This report represents the work carried out, not
throughout the whole year, but during our first
nine months in operation as an NHS Foundation
Trust. This is because our Trust was granted
Foundation Trust status on July 1, 2008 by the
independent regulator, Monitor and we are now
known as Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health
NHS Foundation Trust. A separate report covers
the early part of the 08/09 financial year.

A considerable amount of work was undertaken
to prepare our Trust for Foundation status which
involved a rigorous process of external
assessment. We would like to extend our sincere
thanks to every single person whose commitment
and hard work has contributed to our success.
Throughout the period, we have continued to
demonstrate our commitment to making sure
people with mental health problems receive swift
and appropriate treatment in the best possible
setting to suit their needs. To support this, we
made changes to our operating structures this
year resulting in services becoming aligned to
programmes of care in three clinical divisions
rather than being focused on geographical PCT
district boundaries. These changes have ensured
that service users can be assured of a common
approach to their care, regardless of wherever
they present, and further strengthens levels of
quality and safety.
During 2008, our commitment to investing in

4

services came to fruition when we saw our new
National Centre for Mental Health: Birmingham
open to service users. The centre, which includes
the Barberry and Oleaster buildings, provides
some of the most prominent mental health
services in Europe. Our service users, carers and
staff are extremely pleased with the modern,
fresh and calm environment created for them.
The second part of the development, our Zinnia
centre, also opened to service users during 2008
and delivers modern mental healthcare right at
the heart of a multi-cultural community.

Furthermore, our staff and the services they
provide were recognised this year when they
scooped various national awards. Staff from our
Meriden programme won a prestigious Health
Service Journal Award for mental health
innovation and Dr George Georgiou, from our
Bridge Project in Solihull, won the coveted BUPA
award for patient safety and was also named as
public servant of the year in the Guardian Public
Service Awards.
The staff survey this year provided us with a
valuable method of understanding the views of
our workforce. The results highlighted a number
of key areas where we have seen improvements,
including an increase in the number of staff
receiving training in equality and diversity; a
reduction in work-related stress, and a decline in
the percentage of staff who say they have
experienced physical violence from patients or
their relatives in the past year. In other areas,
where we have made some changes, results
continue to show that we still rate unfavourably

Service user artwork, Phoenix centre art group.

compared to other trusts. Therefore, we will be
focusing our attention over the coming months to
ensure staff feel valued through leadership,
support and encouragement, and that our
commitment to work life balance is evident.
As a result of the outcome from the Healthcare
Commission’s 2007 review of our inpatient
services we implemented a number of
improvements across our Trust. In particular,
these focused on; enhancing the consistency of
information provided to service users on
admission to our wards; increasing the range of
therapeutic activities, including internet access;
and, strengthening the robustness of the
integrated care planning process and
documentation. In December 2008, our Trust
board, which monitored our action plan, were
satisfied that consistently high standards and
performance had been, and continues to be
achieved. Our performance was further
recognised when we received a score of
excellent from the Healthcare Commission for
the quality of services our Trust provides.

However, we are not complacent and
acknowledge that the years ahead are not
without their challenges. The future for our Trust
will be to build on our financially stable base and
facilitate the engagement of our Governors with
the communities we serve ensuring our long-term
strategies can be truly responsive to local needs.
Foundation Trust status will allow us greater
flexibility over our finances, service provision and
planning enabling us to build on our solid
foundations and develop new and innovative
services for the communities we serve. Our plans
over the next few years include investments in
medium secure facilities, developments in older
people’s facilities and services, and the redesign
of processes which eliminate waste and errors
ultimately improving cost effectiveness, quality
and safety.

Artist Frank Johnston at a World community arts day event.

We acknowledge that we need to work hard to
increase our membership base and over the next
12 months, we will grasp the many opportunities
there are to work with the public giving those in
seldom heard communities a voice. Over the next
year, we will work closely with our 11,500
members involving them in our work.
Furthermore, we will do our best to improve our
service users' lives through our work with other
organisations. This means working with people's
carers, their families and the wider community to
help them lead purposeful lives among people
who accept them - breaking down the barriers of
stigma which often accompany mental health
problems and lead to social isolation.
On behalf of the Trust board, we would like to
acknowledge and thank our staff for the hard
work, professionalism and dedication they show
each and every day in delivering modern, high
quality and safe services to our service users,
carers and their families.

We would also like to thank our service users,
carers, volunteers, community and faith groups,
partner organisations and stakeholders who have,
and continue to support us with our overall
mission – to help people get better.

Professor Peter Marquis Sue Turner
Chairman
Chief Executive
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Victoria Square, Birmingham city centre. (Photo courtesy of CLD)

About our Trust

Our Trust was established as Birmingham and
Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust on
July 1, 2008. This annual report covers the first
nine month period from licensing up until end
March 2009 for the financial year 2008/2009.
We provide a comprehensive mental healthcare
service for residents of Birmingham and Solihull,
and to communities in the West Midlands
and beyond.

We serve a culturally and socially-diverse
population of 1.2 million spread over 172 square
miles, have an annual budget of £221 million and
a dedicated workforce of just under 4,000,
making our Trust one of the largest and most
complex mental health Foundation Trusts in
the country.
Our catchment population is characterised in
places by high levels of deprivation, low earnings
and unemployment and is ethnically diverse.
These factors create a higher requirement for
access to health services and a greater need for
innovative ways of engaging people from the
most affected areas.
Now that we have achieved Foundation Trust
status, we have more control over the services
we provide, allowing us to provide even better
services and to involve our local communities in
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the bigger healthcare decisions that we make.

It will help us to actively engage our staff in
shaping how our Trust is run, make sure the
views of service users and their carers and
families are central to everything we do, and
better understand the different needs of our
diverse communities to create services more in
tune with local needs. To achieve Foundation
Trust status we had to demonstrate that we
are legally constituted, well governed and
financially viable.

Our mission

Our mission is straightforward: to help people get better and create a service
we are all happy to recommend to others.
To support this, our vision is that:

• People with common mental health problems are managed effectively
within the primary care system

• People with complex mental health problems are swiftly referred to and
managed as appropriate by specialist services in our Trust

• Focused and co-ordinated activities are developed to help improve
tolerance and understanding within neighbourhoods and communities, and
to enhance access to excluded groups
• Strategic partnerships (sometimes through sub-contracting if appropriate)
are established with non-statutory sector organisations, community and
user-led groups to create a continuum of:
a) appropriate employment, educational, social and leisure opportunities
b) appropriate housing (independent and supported).
Staff and Governors celebrate achieving FT status
(left to right: Ros Alstead, Lawrence Innis, Vinodrai Mehta,
Khalid Ali, Peter Marquis, David Boden, Sue Turner, Darren
Cooper, Brian Sheppard, Sally Selvey, Gary Crellin and
Lakhvir Rellon.)

The implementation of and progress
towards our vision can be translated
into 10 key strategic goals, where
we will:

1. Be the valued and preferred provider of mental
health services for complex conditions for our
local, regional and, where appropriate, national
populations.
2. Significantly extend our engagement with local
communities and businesses in order to:
• Eliminate stigma
• Remove barriers and create opportunities for
new development and employment
• Optimise charitable income generation.
3. Ensure our place as the employer of choice
through recruiting, developing and retaining the
best workforce via teaching, research, reputation,
and ongoing development programmes.
4. Ensure ongoing excellence and
competitiveness through making the best use of
national and international benchmarking for cost,
price, management, outcome and organisational
capacity.

5. Sustain and further develop our role and
reputation as an innovative educator and trainer
of current and future health professionals.

6. Strengthen and develop those services which
assist our local health economies, optimise the
quality of services, ensure value for money and
minimise financial risk; specifically through
review of:
• General hospital costs and capacity
• Out of city placements
• Mixed sector economies.
7. Shape and grow specific specialty interests
where we aim to be service leaders.

8. Review and realign our estates’ asset base to
our clinical service facilities thereby ensuring
value for money.

9. Enhance service provision by developing added
value trading arms offering specific products
allowing re-investment in our core services.
10. Increase our sub-contracting arrangements
with complementary organisations involved in the
same care pathways as BSMHFT to optimise
services for our users.
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Birmingham city centre. (Photo courtesy of CLD)

Solihull town centre. (Photo courtesy of CLD)

Our portfolio of services
Our Trust provides a wide range of inpatient,
community and specialist mental health services
for service users from the age of 16 upwards.
These services are located within our three
divisions; Youth, Addictions, Secure and Complex
Care (YASSC); Mental Health Services for Older
People (MHSOP), and; Adults of Working Age
(AWA). Together, these services include
elements of rehabilitation; crisis and home
treatment; assertive outreach; early intervention;
addictions; day services and mental health
wellbeing. We provide our services on a local,
regional and national basis, dependent upon
client group. In addition, our Trust manages the
delivery of mental healthcare in HMP
Birmingham and works closely with the criminal
justice system.

Our dedicated, specialist teams work closely with
patients, their carers and families to put together
a plan of care which suits each individual person
and offers different types of support including
community, inpatient, outpatient and day services.
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We have, and will continue to work hard to
support and improve the mental health of people
across our patch through a range of locally based
inpatient and community services. We have, and
continue to develop, close links with partners
from education, local authorities and voluntary
organisations and work in partnership to provide
integrated health and social care - a very real
benefit for our service users.

Birmingham city centre. (Photo courtesy of CLD)

For a comprehensive list of all services we provide, please visit http://www.bsmhft.nhs.uk/our-services/
Divisions and Programmes
Working Age Services

Mental Health Services for
Older People

Youth, Addictions Secure
and Complex Care

Acute Care

Prevention, Assessment
& Early Detection Services

Youth

Home Treatment Teams
Assertive Outreach Teams
Inpatient Services
Emergency Care
and Bed Management
Place of Safety
Specialist Services
(Mother and Baby, Deaf
and Eating Disorder)

Memory Assessment Teams
Day Hospitals
Out Patient Clinics
Working Age
Dementia Service

Early Intervention Services
Youth Clinical Support Team
Forensic CAMHS

Community Care

Diagnosis, Treatment &
Intervention Services

Addictions

Community Mental Health
Teams
Intermediate Care
Psychological Therapies
Psychiatric Liaison
Primary Care Liaison

Community Mental Health
Teams
Community Enablement &
Recovery Team

Substance Misuse
Homeless Service
Prison Healthcare

Recovery and Well-being

Inpatient Services

Secure and Complex Care

Social Inclusion –
arts, sports, Leisure
Day Care Services
Rehabilitation Services/Wards

Acute/Assessment Wards
Continuing Care Wards

Forensics
Personality Disorder Services
Community Personality
Disorder Services
Psychotherapy
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Martin Herriott, Jacqui Gatcombe, Midlands Today presenter Nick Owen and Linda Pillage

Comedienne Barbara Nice celebrates the NHS’s 60th birthday
with staff at our Uffculme Centre.

‘On track’ – The performance and
development of our business
(Operating Financial Review)

The performance of our Trust is assessed, like
other NHS organisations, through a number of
national and local methods. Nationally, our
performance is monitored by the Healthcare
Commission* (HCC) through the annual health
check, service reviews and surveys. Now that we
are a Foundation Trust, our performance is also
reviewed by Monitor who do this through the
compliance framework and the publication of
quarterly governance and mandatory services
risk ratings.

In addition, the local performance of our services
are monitored and reviewed by commissioners,
including primary care trusts, local authorities and
drug action teams.
We will continue to work in partnership with third
party organisations in our geographical boundary,
which includes voluntary groups, overview and
scrutiny committees, the local involvement
networks, community groups, faith groups and
other stakeholders to ensure they are abreast of
our performance.
Monitor

There are three main components in the
compliance framework which Monitor use to
measuring us against our terms of authorisation.
These components are:
• Annual risk assessment
• In-year monitoring
• Intervention
For both annual risk assessments and in-year
monitoring, Monitor assigns a risk rating (1-5) in
three areas. Our ratings at the end of the
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2008/2009 financial year were:
Finance – 4

Governance – GREEN

Mandatory Services – 4 GREEN

*The Healthcare Commission became the Care Quality
Commission on 1 April 2009

Our performance against
key targets

This section provides an overview of our
performance against key targets. For the
purposes of this report, this section relates to the
whole 12 month period of 2008/2009.
HCC ratings

In October 2008, we received an overall rating of
excellent in the Healthcare Commission’s
national annual health check for the quality of
services we provide. This outcome relates to the
2007/2008 year and further demonstrated our
commitment to improving services which make a
real difference to the care and experience our
service users, carers and their relatives receive.
The results are a reflection of the continued
dedication and professionalism of our staff and
their determination to provide high quality care our staff have a lot to be proud of.
The score, which is part of a ratings system for
all NHS organisations, covered a range of areas
including safety of patients, cleanliness and
waiting times.
For use of resources which measures how well
we manage our finances, we were rated
as Good.

Our 2007/08 Quality of Services rating of
Excellent confirmed that we were compliant with
the Healthcare Commission’s assessment
framework which covers core healthcare
standards assessment in the following
seven areas:
• Safety
• Clinical and cost effectiveness
• Governance
• Patient focus
• Accessible and responsive care
• Care environment and amenities
• Public health.
In addition, mental health trusts were also
assessed against 10 key national targets,
including:
• Experience of patients
• Support in the community
• Drug misusers sustained in treatment
• Infection control
• Data quality on ethnic group
• Audit of suicide prevention
• Community mental health team integrated
working
• Compliance with guidelines concerning
schizophrenia
• Compliance with guidelines concerning
obesity
• Crisis resolution team implementation.

This national assessment process confirmed that
our Trust achieved the required standards of
performance in 2007/08 and was one of 37
mental health trusts in the country to have

received a rating of Excellent for Quality of
Services. We will continue to ensure that these
high standards are maintained and improved
where appropriate.
Monitor indicators

As a Foundation Trust, our board is required to
provide a quarterly declaration of compliance to
Monitor (the independent regulator of Foundation
Trusts) regarding our Trust’s governance
arrangements, financial position and progress in
meeting four national indicators for mental health
Trusts. Since achieving Foundation Trust status,
our Trust has continued to maintain the
compliance requirements for Q2, Q3 and Q4 of
this financial year. This includes meeting and
sustaining performance on the four national
indicators for mental health foundation trusts:
• Ensuring that at least 95% of Care
Programme Approach (CPA) patients receive
follow-up contact within seven days of
discharge from hospital
• Minimising delayed transfers of care so that
no more than 7.5% of occupied bed-days are
due to delayed discharge
• Ensuring that at least 95% of admissions of
working age adults are managed via crisis
resolution home treatment teams prior to
admission
• Maintaining the level of crisis resolution teams
set in 2003/2006 planning round. For
Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS
Foundation Trust, the target which has been
maintained is 10 locally based teams.
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The Zinnia Centre, Sparkhill.

HCC Acute Inpatient Mental Health
Service Review

Back in 2007, we took part in the Healthcare
Commission’s review of acute inpatient mental
health. In the 12 months following, we had made
significant progress. By December 2008 our
board were confident that we had, and continue
to make, improvements in the following areas:

Assessment and care planning
• We have invested in, and implemented an
Integrated Care Record which is underpinned
by a physical health strategy and a substantial
number of social inclusion initiatives which
ensures all relevant information is held within
one place
• We have implemented more systematic
recording and organisation of patient
assessment and care plan data, as well as risk
assessments
• We have ensured all our patients received
detailed communications, explaining what they
should expect from us in terms of care
coordination, case review, copies of care
plan etc.

Customer care initiatives
• We have developed a Trust-wide customer
care training programme which is linked to
our psychological therapies strategy, ensuring
an understanding of psychological
mindedness for our non clinical staff
• We have introduced Patient Advice and
Liaison Service (PALS) surgeries
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• We have introduced a programme of
Patient Satisfaction Surveys coordinated our
by PALS service
• We have worked with our volunteers to
support the delivery of new unannounced
quarterly visits in all our sites and use the
feedback in our commitment to continuously
improve our services
• In response to patient survey feedback we
have redesigned our current out of hours
helpline and extended our customer care
service making it accessible 24/7 for users
and carers
• We have developed proposals for our inpatient
programmes – therapeutic hospitality using
lean methodologies.
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support. Our Trust works with its partners
5%
including social services and the independent
4%
sector to support and ensure appropriate, safe
and
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Seven day follow-up

Our Trust strives to meet the national target of
ensuring that all patients are appropriately
followed up within seven days of being
discharged from hospital. Evidence has shown
that this is the time that some patients feel most
vulnerable and are more at risk of committing
suicide. We have continued to exceed the target
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set by Monitor of 95%. In 2008/09, 96.7% of
patients were followed up within 7 days of
discharge, exceeding the Monitor based national
target of 95%.
Use of nursing agency staff

We have seen a reduction in the use of nursing
agency staff during the year through
improvements in recruitment processes and
2007/08
increased
use of bank staff. Bank and agency
2008/09
staff
are
used
to cover peaks and troughs in
Feb
Mar
demand and to ensure patient care where
necessary. Spending on the use of agency staff
has fallen from almost £1.5m in 2007/08 to just
over £0.9m in 2008/09 through increased
recruitment to our Trust’s bank of temporary staff
and improved and enhanced controls. Using our
own bank staff offers better continuity of care as
well as being more cost effctive.
Sickness absence

We have reduced the level of sickness absence
2007/08
amongst
our staff from 6.2% in 2007/08 to
2008/09
5.1% for 2008/09, through working closely with
Feb
Mar
staff and improvements in procedures.

We will continue to work to drive down the levels
of sickness absence even further over the
coming months.
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Quality Overview 2008/09
Statement from The Chief Executive

As a Foundation Trust we are implementing
quality reports a year ahead of the wider NHS. I
welcome our first quality report as it gives our
partners and stakeholders an opportunity to
review our achievements and challenges faced
last year, as this account will be published in our
Annual Report.

Our commitment to continuous quality
improvement is at the heart of all our activities,
our report for 2008/09 takes account of
stakeholders’ views where they are on the public
record. For this forthcoming year 2009/10,
stakeholders’ views on priorities and outcomes
will be built into the development and review of
our Quality Account for next year.

BSMHFT is the largest specialist mental health
trust in the West Midlands, providing a wide range
of services to a diverse population and
communities across Birmingham, Solihull and
beyond. Given this portfolio, we have used quality
measures that are generally applicable across our
services. We have used data that is externally
validated, where it is available. Further detail
along service lines will be developed for future
quality accounts.
I would like to congratulate all staff for their
achievements in the past year and their
commitment to providing quality services.

Our Trust is committed to continuing to
implement quality improvement initiatives that
enhance the safety, experience and outcomes for
all our patients. We will work closely with all our
staff to make addressing such issues a priority
for us in the coming year.
Current view of Trust’s position
and status for quality

Our Trust became a Foundation Trust in July
2008 and achieved an Annual Health Check
rating of ‘Excellent’ in 2007/08.
Our Trust confirmed compliance with all core
healthcare standards for the first year in
2008/09.

Whilst our Trust has achieved significant
improvements in quality issues of variation,
standards across the organisation have
contributed to less favourable assessments under
two reviews undertaken by the Healthcare
Commission these are detailed on page 15.
Overview of organisational
effectiveness initiatives

Our Trust strengthened its operational structures
in October 2008 which resulted in the formation
of three operational Divisions each led by a
Director of Strategic Delivery in partnership with
clinical directors. The aim of the structures
provides a clear focus on service delivery by
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are being used to further develop the
organisations clinical governance
arrangements for 2009/10.

function particularly for services provided to
adults of working age. In addition we have
created a new function of ‘accounts’ led by
senior clinicians and managers who will
oversee our interface with primary care and
proactively manage our relationships with
key partners and service users.

Our Trust has a significant programme of
research and development and this
includes a range of partners. Over the year,
our Trust has further developed our
network of user engagement through (User
Voice) workers aligned to clinical
programmes and strengthened our
community development programmes and
involvement of carers. We look forward in
the coming year to develop our relationship
with our two LINKs (Birmingham and
Solihull).

The Trust Board has led a wider review of
its focus on quality and this has led to the
development of a quarterly reporting
programme of ‘clinical dashboards’. The
dashboards focus on four main themes of
quality ie:
• Patient Safety
• Clinical Effectiveness
• User Feedback
• Staff Feedback.

Within our Trust we have also invested in
significant support to staff to improve the
effectiveness of the organisation and
promote quality improvement. In particular
through the support and implementation of
approaches such as ‘Lean thinking’ and
Project Management skills.

In addition the Trust Audit Committee
instigated a wider review of Clinical
Governance arrangements and
commissioned the Audit Commission to
undertake this review. The results of which

QUALITY MEASURES USED DURING THE YEAR 2008/9
We have measure our performance
against the following metrics:

SAFETY measures reported
Compliance with HCAI (Healthcare Acquired
Infection) NPSA (National Patient Safety
Agency) audit tool (Dashboard)

Number of incidents reported to NPSA
Response to national safety alerts issued
during the year
Violent assaults sustained by staff

Baseline

End year
performance
(Mar 09)

64% (June08#) 87%

32 (Sept08#)
Target 100%

136
100%

76 / month

32 / month

NEVER EVER EVENTS
(as per national guidance):
• In patients suicide using non-collapsible rails –
• Escape from within the secure perimeter of
–
medium or high secure mental health services
by patients who are transferred prisoners

45%

72%

CPA 7 day follow up (KPI)

100%

99.8%

402 (Oct 08#)

469

Service user views recorded in
care plan (In patients)
All complaints responded to
within agreed timescales. (KPI)
Notes:
Dashboard –
KPI –
#–

60% (Aug 08#) 85%
73% (Apr 08)

Trust had set an
end year target
of 80% which
achieved. See
more detailed
account below

0
0

CLINICAL OUTCOME measures reported
Compliance with Care Record
documentation (In patients) (Dashboard)

PATIENT EXPERIENCE measures reported
Use of PALS service outside
working hours (Dashboard)

Comments

See more
detailed account
opposite

See more
detailed account
opposite

94%

Where this data has been included in quarterly programme of measures reported to Trust Board.
Where data is reported to Trust Board monthly as a key performance indicator.
A number of measures were only identified within the year

National targets and regulatory requirements
2007-08
Compliance with core standards
41/44
National Priorities
• Maintain level of Crisis resolution teams
10
• Clostridium difficle year on year reduction
• MRSA levels (50% of 03/4)
0

2008-09
44/44
10
0

FEEDBACK

Service User Feedback

Over the year our Trust has developed its mechanisms for receiving feedback from service
users. In particular two new initiatives were launched:
Satisfaction survey:

A standard service user feedback form is provided at all centres, which enables service
users to provide feedback directly on their experience. A summary of feedback forms
received over the past year is set out below.

Satisfaction Survey (Trust wide returns)
100%
90%

n Great
n Good
n OK
n Bad

80%
70%

60%
50%
40%
30%
20%

10%
0%

Ease of getting an
appointment

Receptionist greets
and listens

Clinical staff
listens

Up to date
care plan given

NOTE: Data reflects 60 returns received over the year across all areas of Trust services

The feedback highlights the provision of care planning information as a weaker area
of satisfaction. As a result our Trust has introduced ‘care cards’ to enable service users
to be given a summary of their care plan.
Mystery Shopper programme:

A programme of mystery shopper visits of Trust premises has been undertaken with
trained service users. A summary of the assessments of the past year is set out below.

Mystery Shopper % compliance with standards (Summary)
120
100

n In pats
n Rehab residential
n Community and Forensics

80
60
40
20
0

Core information
leaflets on display

Posters and notices
Waiting areas
up to date
access to water and
magazines

Saff wearing
name bages

NOTE: Data reflects 24 visits to Trust premises over the year across all areas of Trust services

Feedback from each visit is provided to individual centres and action plans are required to
be put in place.

When recent visits have been reviewed, there appears to have been an improvement in
compliance with standards relating to staff wearing their name badges and the availability
of core information leaflets.
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EXTERNAL AGENCIES

The following highlight significant feedback received from external agencies:
Mental Health Act Commission:

Areas of good practice/high
comparative performance identified

General high level of compliance with
use of MHA.

Areas identified for further improvement:
Ensuring appropriate independent advocacy
Reinforcing requirement of named nurses

Further actions:
All visit reports are reviewed by the Mental Health Act committee and Learning Lessons group. The Trust Board
receives the MHAC annual report and reports of the MHA committee. The annual clinical audit programme
incorporated a number of areas of the mental health act for regular audit review.
Healthcare Commission in patient review
The HCC undertook a follow up visit from the In patient review undertaken in 2007 which had identified a poor
overall score.
Areas of good practice/high comparative
performance identified

Development of Integrated care record
Areas of improvement identified:
Welcome packs and service user information
Role of care leads

Areas identified for further improvement:

Further develop user involvement and role
of user voice.
Support for black and ethnic communities
Full implementation of ICR.

Further actions:
An action plan for in patients has been reported and reviewed quarterly to achieve an equivalent score of
‘excellent’ against the standards originally reviewed by the HCC by February 2009. The Integrated care record has
now been implemented in all services for adults of working age, and routine audits are in place to further improve
compliance.
Healthcare Commission community mental health teams review
Although no formal rating has been issued by the HCC, performance against a number of standards were
identified as poor as part of a follow up review conducted in 2008.
Areas of good practice/high comparative
performance identified
Levels of CBT

Areas identified for further improvement:
Provision of Physical Health reviews
Provision of advanced directives
Service users say in care planning.

Further actions:
An action plan has been developed to further improve standards for all community teams and this is being
monitored and reviewed through the Clinical Governance committee.
Staff Survey

Areas of good practice/high comparative
performance identified

Staff working extra hours (low level)
Experience of physical violence (low level)
Equality & Diversity training
Work related stress

Areas identified for further improvement:
Equal opportunities for career development
Commitment to work life balance
Health & safety training
Actions towards violence & harassment.

Further actions:
A range of activities have been put in place to improve individual areas identified from the staff survey.
Patient Survey (Community survey conducted in January 2008)
Areas of good practice/high comparative
performance identified
Provision of talking therapies
Usefulness of care reviews

Areas identified for further improvement:
Understanding content of care plans
Purpose of medications

Further actions:
Use of out of hours services and evidence that service users have received copies of care plans are monitored
through the Trust Board clinical dashboard and through future surveys.
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PROPOSED PERFORMANCE MEASURES 2009 /10

We have chosen to measure our performance against the following metrics:
Topic

Objective

Baseline

Target

Dual diagnosis training

Ensure all community teams have
received core dual diagnosis
training in past three years.

New target

1,000
staff

Maintain levels below
national average.

Rolling
Rolling
average of average
23 or below of 23 or
(Year 08/09) Below

Ensure compliance with
never events.

0

0

• Escape from within the secure
Ensure compliance with
perimeter of medium or high
never events.
secure mental health services by
patients who are transferred prisoners.

0

0

MRSA bacteriemia infections.

0

0

52%

75%

New target

90%

SAFETY measures reported

(Data source: Training attendance data)

Violent assaults sustained by staff

(Data source:Violent assault incidents reported)

Annual level of suicides

(Data source: incidents reported)

NEVER EVER EVENTS:
(as per national guidance):

• In patients suicide using non
collapsible rails
(Data source: incidents reported)

(Data source: incidents reported)

(Data source: incidents reported)

CLINICAL OUTCOME
measures reported

Compliance with ICR documentation
(Data: Local Audit programme)

Completion of HoNoS scores.

(Data source: Clinical Information system)

Record of physical health assessments
(by Trust or GP)
(Data source: Local ICR Audit programme)

PATIENT EXPERIENCE
measures reported

Level of ‘real time’ feedback from
service users
(Data source: level of feedback reported)

Use of PALS service outside
working hours
(Data source: PALS activity reports)

All complaints responded to within
agreed timescales.

(Data source: complaints monitoring system)

Reduced number of violent assaults 468
445
by 5%
(Year 08/09)

Maintain zero levels of MRSA
bacteriemia infections.

Achieve target of compliance in
all teams with ICR documentation.

Achieve 90% recording of HoNoS
scores for all new assessments.

(Apr 09)

Improve reporting of physical
health assessments within
user record.

65%

(Apr 09)

75%

To develop the range of feedback
from service users at the point
and time of service activity.

New target

75%
of Trust

469

515

In line with the new Complaints
requirements to ensure all
complaints receive their responses
within the timescales agreed.

New target

98%

To demonstrate improved access
of the PALs service for advice
and support.

Locations

We intend to further develop stakeholder engagement around these measures to provide additional
assurance and focus on our quality priorities.
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Aim/Goal

DETAILED REVIEW OF 2008/09
MONITORING

To ensure 80% compliance with ICR
documentation for all services in particular to
demonstrate:
• Explicit user engagement in the care planning
process
• Undertaking appropriate physical health checks
/liason with primary care
• Ensuring a full health and social care
assessment undertaken.

PRIORITY AREA: Use of new ICR

Description of issue and rationale for
prioritising

Over the past 3 years our Trust has developed a
comprehensive and integrated care record (ICR)
for use by all professions across the Trust. The
record has been developed to ensure key
information requirements for good quality care
are systematically collected and recorded within
patient records and therefore enshrines the
principles and practice of the care programme
approach, NICE guidance and recommendations
from a number of serious case and external
reviews. The ICR was also geared to provide an
almost seamless transition to the requirements of
the new CPA which was implemented on
1 October 2009.
100

Current Status

Improved compliance with the use of the ICR has
been demonstrated and good compliance
achieved for in-patient units. However, further
improvement plans are in place to improve
compliance in other areas

ICR Audit Results from August 2008 to March 2009 for NAIPS, Inpatients and CMHTs

90
80

% fields complete

70

60
50
40
30
20
10
0

21/07/2008

CMHTs

09/09/2008

Inpatients

29/10/2008

NAIPs

18/12/2008

Linear (NAIPs)

PRIORITY AREA: Hygiene Code

Description of issue and rationale for
prioritising

The implementation of core standards of practice
for minimizing risks of infection is a national
initiative across the NHS.
Our Trust has used the NPSA HCAI audit tool to

06/02/2009

Linear (CMHTs)

23/03/2009

Linear (Inpatients)

self assess and review progress this year in
strengthening its arrangements for infection
Aim/Goal

To achieve 80% compliance with the audit tool by
March 2009.
Current Status

The compliance target was achieved for the year.

HCAI Audit Compliance 2008/09 (%)

100%
90%
80%
70%

60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
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Qtr 1
PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
64

Qtr 2
PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
66.9

Qtr 3
PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
71.1

Qtr 4
PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
83

Current status

PRIORITY AREA Out of hours contacts

The existing PALS service was expanded in
October 2008 to provide a 24 hour service
replacing former arrangements for out of hours
contacts through an external agency. The new
service provides the opportunity to give
clarification and further information to service
users as well as being a contact point for advice
on accessing services. The service saw a small
improvement in activity over the first quarter of
operation.

Description of issue and rationale for
prioritising

Over the past three years the National patient
survey undertaken for the Healthcare
Commission has highlighted that service users
feel less aware of a contact number to speak to
someone outside normal working hours. There
has also been an underlying trend on the level of
information provided to service users.
Aim/Goal

There has been an overall increase in the number
of calls to the service and evidence that the
promotion of the service was well communicated
from the outset.

To increase awareness and use of our Trust’s 24
hour PALS help line.
400
350
300
250
200
150

January 2009

February 2009

173

98

131

76

362

172

130

130

88

295

175

113

172

0

262

50

129

100

March 2009

n Evening call support only
n Sat/Sun day calls support only
n Night calls support only
n Mon/Fri support calls only
n Sentinel Casework
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The Zinnia Centre atrium.

Outside space at the National Centre for Mental Health - Birmingham.

Research and Development

Our Trust remains committed to supporting
Research and Development (R&D) which
underpins individual and organisational learning.

In response to Best Research for Best Health
(DoH 2006) and the subsequent changes in
R&D funding, our Trust board approved a
proposed strategic business plan which focused
upon four internationally competitive mental
health portfolio research programmes across our
Trust, recognising the opportunities within these
programmes for future income. These four
programmes are:
• Early intervention and prevention of psychosis
• Ethnicity and mental health
• Addictions research
• Neurodegenerative disorders and cognitive
impairment.

Together, these programmes have brought
considerable benefits to our Trust in terms of
clinical innovation and recognition, and lead
researchers within them have demonstrated an
ability to attract prestigious funding.

During 2008/09 our researchers within the four
core programmes continued to be involved in 14
funded research portfolio projects, either as chief
or principal investigators. During the latter part of
the year, the R&D unit expanded significantly to
accommodate the growing research workforce
within our Trust. Research forums have been
instigated to identify and support research staff
training needs and development.
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Our Trust is proud to host the Heart of England
Mental Health Research Network Hub (‘the hub’)
which has helped to generate a thriving research
culture within our Trust that is focused upon
national research priorities.
Innovation

Our innovations this year include improved
patient experience, by enabling service users to
manage their mental health problems,
development of leadership skills and
management capabilities, improvements in
patient information, the provision of support for
faith a spirituality groups, increased patient
safety, partnership working and access to fitness
classes and income generation to enable further
investment in Trust services.
Towards the end of the year, we agreed a
contract with the NHS West Midlands
Innovations Centre, who provide our Trust with
support for new innovations we may choose to
take to market during the coming years.
Continuing to be green

During 2008/09, our Trust continued its
responsible and pro-active approach to green
and sustainable development through a number
of initiatives including:
• The decommissioning of the Queen Elizabeth
Psychiatric Hospital (QEPH) – between 60
and 70 per cent of all the fixtures and fittings
were either re-used or recycled resulting in
benefits to the environment and savings in
waste disposal costs

Tony Green demonstrating physical health exercise equipment.

• Our domestic waste recycling figures are now
in excess of over 60% of total waste across
our Trust
• The introduction of a Trust-wide paper
shredding service resulting in environmental
and cost benefits.

Good progress has been made this year in order
to reduce our energy consumption, however, we
still have a long way to go to avoid energy waste.
Over the coming months, we will build upon our
energy saving campaign which employs a
selection of communications tools aimed at
increasing staff awareness and ultimately
reducing our energy consumption going forward.
Management of incidents

We believe that any incident involving violence
and/or abuse is unacceptable and as such, we
take prevention and management of these issues
extremely seriously. Our Trust continues to deliver
a programme of measures which are
implemented by our local security management
specialist who supports any individual who has
been affected by such incidents, with a specific
emphasis on liaising with the appropriate criminal
justice agencies to ensure sanctions are imposed
on the aggressor when appropriate. Our local
security management specialist is part of the
Risk Management Department and is available to
provide advice and support to clinical teams,
individual staff, and in some areas service users
across our Trust in relation to tackling violence
against staff and reducing the impact of crime on
staff and service users.

Emergency Preparedness

Our Trust is fully compliant with all Department of
Health requirements and all of our emergency
plans are continually reviewed and updated. In
2008, we successfully tested our major incident
plan for its effectiveness in accordance with
regulations from the Department of Health.

Our flu pandemic plan has been reviewed this
year by NHS West Midlands, the strategic health
authority, who consider it to have met the
required standards.
Infection Control

During 2008/09, our Board made a significant
investment to enhance our infection control team
and cleaning services ensuring continued
compliance with the hygiene code.
Our Clean Your Hands campaign, was launched
during the year and raised awareness amongst
staff across our Trust of the continuing
importance of hand hygiene.
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Meriden Programme and the Bridge Team celebrating their HSJ award achievements (left to right: Becky Heelis, Alison
Corns, Peter Woodhams, Paula Conneely, Dr Gráinne Fadden, Martin Atchison, Sam Farooq and Maria Albanese).

Risk Management

Early in 2008, we introduced a new risk
management system which allows our staff to
report issues swiftly using new technology. This
way of working allows us to produce integrated
reports for all incidents, complaints and PALS, as
well as providing a much-improved level of
incident analysis.
Our Trust has an executive director led,
integrated approach to governance that ensures
clinical, operational, financial and strategic risks
are highlighted to the board of directors. To
assist the board in managing such risks, our
executive directors and key senior staff work
with a comprehensive risk management
framework which is reviewed and approved by
the board on a regular basis.
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults
and Children

Our capacity to ensure vulnerable adults and
children are appropriately safeguarded within our
organisation has been strengthened this year.
We have invested in a new post and recruited a
head of safeguarding and inspection to lead a
team focussing on interfacing with Non
Government Organisations (NGO)’s and other
agencies.
Information Governance
Assurance Programme

The robust governance procedures we have in
place are measured using the information
governance action plan which is monitored by
the strategic health authority.
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EIS service users and staff attend the premier
of www.wheres-your-head-at.com – BSMHFT’s
cinema advertisement.

Freedom of Information

Our Trust is committed to responding to any
requests for information promptly, efficiently
and openly.

Between July 1, 2008 and March 31, 2009, our
Trust received 75 Freedom of Information Act
(FOIA) requests. Our Trust has 20 working days
to respond to any request made under the
legislation, and has responded to all such
requests within the required timescales.
Complaints

When we receive complaints which involve our
services, we take them very seriously and
attempt to resolve them as quickly as possible.

The feedback we receive is important to us as it
can help us pinpoint areas where services can be
improved, guide us to possible solutions and
enables us to learn.
We also receive numerous compliments and
letters of thanks which altogether acts as a
measure of the quality of services we provide.
Our chief executive oversees all complaints,
which are co-ordinated by our complaints
manager and responded to by the relevant
divisional director. Between July 1, 2008 and
March 31, 2009, our Trust received 295
complaints.

Frank Bruno signs up to become a landmark member. Pictured with Professor Chitra Mohan, Deputy Medical Director.
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Richard Latham retired Trust gardener.

Board Challenge 2008 winners.

Better Together –
Investing in and valuing our workforce
We recognise that the delivery of high quality
services is only possible with the dedication and
commitment of our highly skilled and motivated
workforce. Therefore we will continue to work

closely with staff to look at ways of improving
their working lives through leadership, support
and staff benefits.

Workforce portfolio

Fig 1.0 – Workforce Profile by staff group (WTE) as at March 31, 2009

A&C
Allied Health Professionals
Allied Health Professional Assistants
Ancillary
Consultant
Drug Worker
Technicians
Manager
Medic
MTO
Nursing Assistants
Nurse
Scientist
Technical Instructors

Fig 2.0 – Workforce data by staff group and gender as at March 31, 2009
Staff Group

Female
Staff Nos
A&C
509
9%
4% Professionals
Allied Health
106
Allied9%
Health Professional Assistants
2
Ancillary
174
3%
73%
Consultant 2%
34
Drug Worker
40
Technicians
0
Manager
127
Pay costs
Medic
89
Clinical supplies and services
MTO
22
Depreciation and impairments
Premises
Nursing Assistants
Services from other NHS bodies 463
Other
Nurse
957
Scientist
168
5%
6%
3%Instructors
Technical
34
Total
2725
1%

22

85%

%s
87.0
81.5
66.7
76.3
31.8
71.4
0.0
57.7
46.1
88.0
69.6
67.7
76.0
59.6
69.4

Male
Staff Nos
76
24
1
54
73
16
20
93
104
3
202
457
53
23
1199

%s
13.0
18.5
33.3
23.7
68.2
28.6
100.0
42.3
53.9
12.0
30.4
32.3
24.0
40.4
30.6

Total
585
130
3
228
107
56
20
220
193
25
665
1414
221
57
3924

Celebrating World Mental Health Day in Birmingham (right to left: Julian Cleaver, Claire Stewart, Jo Beale, Peter Brown,
Ambrose Koryang, Mike Jeffries, Chris Harris and Heart FM Representative).

Fig 3.0 – Workforce Data by ethnicity as at March 31, 2009
Ethnicity

White

Mixed

Asian or Asian British

Black or Black British
Chinese or other Ethnic Group

British
Irish
Other White
White and Black Caribbean
White and Black African
White and Asian
Other Mixed
Indian
Pakistani
Bangladeshi
Other Asian
Black Caribbean
Black African
Other Black
Chinese
Other Ethnic Group
Not Stated

Organisation Wide Cultural Change

We are continuing to shape our culture to
become one where continuous service and
organisational improvement is integral to
everything we do. Our capacity and capability unit
has been successful in delivering service
improvement initiatives and providing internal
consultancy and organisational development
programmes consistently across our organisation,
providing the tools and techniques for our staff to
deliver real changes on the ground.
Although we are at the early stages of
implementing a lean approach, our commitment
to improving our business and clinical practices,

Trust
Profile %

54.55
4.03
2.23
0.98
0.35
0.40
0.28
5.79
2.33
0.35
1.48
9.10
6.26
1.00
0.25
1.15
9.47

Birmingham
Population %

69.68
3.03
1.45
1.45
0.14
0.59
0.42
5.05
8.92
1.78
0.89
4.19
0.55
0.5
0.49
0.57

and adopting processes to eliminate waste, is
undeterred. We continue to encourage every
member of our workforce to adopt lean principles
in their work and already, through the use of
rapid improvement events and value stream
analysis, we have started to see some
improvements in areas of our Trust including,
pharmacy, addictions, in-patient services and care
records management processes.
Commitment to learning and
development

During the year, our learning and development
department has continued to expand their
portfolio of programmes available to our
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Adrian Burke – Witness, pictured at the U R A Star concert,
National Indoor Arena, Birmingham.

Outside space at the National Centre for Mental Health - Birmingham.

workforce. The joint investments we have with
our Strategic Health Authority and Learning
Skills Council has enabled us to deliver more
National Vocational Qualifications (NVQs),
particularly in the areas of customer service, and
care and administration. Funding has enabled us
to offer basic skills programmes in partnership
with Bournville College developing skills in
literacy and numeracy.
Management and Leadership
Development

Our continued partnership with De Montfort
University and links with the Institute of
Leadership and Management enables us to
continue to offer some of their qualifications to
our staff.
Building on the success of the programmes
offered by these establishments, we have
expanded the qualifications on offer to include
workplace coaching and team building.

We are committed to working in partnership with
other NHS organisations across Birmingham and
Solihull and as such, we have developed a
coaching collaborative which has included the
delivery of qualifications in coaching across a
number of organisations. This collaborative has
seen the development of a coaching tracking
system and a move towards cross-organisational
coaching. This project was supported this year by
the Birmingham and Sandwell Locality
Stakeholder Board.
Team development

Our investment in staff development has so far

24

enabled us to deliver a number of programmes
resulting in a positive shift in the way our staff
work. These programmes which include team
building, measurement and analysis of
improvement, neuro-linguistic programming and
project management have benefited over 400
staff of all grades and disciplines. During the
next year, we will be building upon the success
of these programmes by delivering them in our
divisional team environments.
Team performance

Measuring team performance is very important
to us as it allows us to identify areas of good
practice. Our Trust uses the Aston team
performance inventory and team workbook
series as a measurement tool in a number of
different settings.

Our future plans for learning and development
will see us move towards fully integrated learning
and development function, incorporating both
clinical and non-clinical training.
The National Staff Survey 2008

The results of the NHS annual staff survey,
which is carried out by Healthcare Commission
on behalf of the NHS, provides us with valuable
data allowing us to understand and respond to
the views of our staff working throughout our
Trust.

This year the survey highlighted a number of key
areas where we are performing well, as well as
areas for further improvement. The results
showed that since the National Staff Survey
2007, there have been significant improvements

www.wheres-your-head-at.com – BSMHFT’s cinema advertisement.

in some areas of our Trust, particularly around
the wellbeing of our staff, for example:
• Our staff have told us their work-related
stress has declined
• The percentage of our staff who say they are
having to work extra hours above their
contracted hours has declined
• The number of staff who said they have
received training in equality and diversity has
improved.
• The percentage of our staff who say they
have experienced physical violence from
patients or their relatives in the past year
has declined.
Despite these improvements we are not
complacent and we will continue to work hard
together to deliver and sustain further
improvements for our staff over the coming year
including:
• Ensuring our staff feel valued through
leadership, support and encouragement
• Ensuring our staff feel they have an
interesting /worthwhile job which makes a
real difference to our overall mission of
helping people get better.

Equality and diversity

We are committed to promoting equality of
opportunity for everyone, both in the provision of
services and employment of staff. Our Trust
seeks to provide services and employment in an
environment free from discrimination, which
benefits from diversity, participation and
involvement of staff, service users and
their carers.

We recognise that inequalities exist within our
society and we are fully committed to looking at
ways to remedy this. Our Trust will not
discriminate directly or indirectly through applying
conditions or requirements that cannot be shown
to be justified. It is our policy to treat all job
applicants and employees in the same way,
regardless of race, gender, nationality or national
origin, marital status, disability, sexual orientation,
age, trade union membership and political or
religious belief.
Furthermore, we will monitor the composition of
our workforce and introduce positive action if it
appears this policy is not fully applied.

We have maintained the Employment Services
Disability ‘Two Ticks’ symbol, which recognises
our ongoing commitment to recruit and retain
staff with disabilities. As an equal opportunities
employer we celebrate diversity and operate
workforce policies that help us recognise and
respond to the individual needs of our staff.
These include making sure we accommodate the
needs of disabled staff by making reasonable
adjustments to their jobs and the working
environment so they can continue to work
effectively and support the delivery of our
services. We also operate recruitment practices
that ensure we avoid discrimination and promote
best practice.
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Receptionist Ann Dunkley at the National Centre for Mental Health-Birmingham.

Hand in hand –
Communicating and working
in partnership
Our Trust is a transparent and forward thinking
organisation which believes that open and
trustworthy communication can support the
creation of a positive working environment,
cements working relationships with internal and
external parties and can set the tone for the
entire organisation.

We recognise that improving communication
with our stakeholders is key to ensuring
effective mental health services which meet the
needs of the people accessing them.

To us, good communication is more than a simple
exchange of information and messages, we
believe it involves attitude and behaviour too. We
are committed to fostering an environment of
trust and openness and have a number of
initiatives which assist in the establishment of
effective, robust communications.
During the year, we have engaged with a number
of stakeholders to understand their communication
needs and as a result of their feedback, we have
developed a comprehensive three-year
communications strategy which was approved by
our board in March 2008.

Our magazine, Trust Talk is the main way in
which we communicate with our members and
service users. Copies of this popular bi-monthly
publication, which celebrates our achievements,
are available at all of our sites. A personal copy is
also sent to every member of our Trust through
the postal service. Electronic copies are available
to download from our brand new website which
we re-launched this year.
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Internally, we have developed a number of
information channels which ensure our staff are
fully engaged with the vision for our Trust, are
aware of any important changes, are well
informed about key activities, and know how to
influence and provide feedback on strategic
developments and policies. We regularly update
our staff with the latest information about our
Trust by way of regular face to face meetings,
team briefings, global emails and a
comprehensive intranet site, which includes a
daily news feed.
Engaging with our communities

Preparing for Foundation status not only provided
our Trust with a great opportunity to visit the
communities, and meet the people we serve, but
also enabled us to demonstrate how we work
and eliminate some of the stigma which is still
attached to mental health.
We have continued to work closely with local
schools to raise awareness about the services
provided by our Trust and the career
opportunities we have to offer. Our diversity team
has largely undertaken this work as part of the
diversity and community engagement agenda.
During 2008/09, in partnership with Rethink, the
Care Services Improvement Partnership (CSIP)
and independent Islamic counselling organisation
Stephen Maynard Associates, we provided
mental health awareness training for a group of
25 imams and madrassa teachers. The training
sessions, which were delivered at Birmingham’s
Green Lane Mosque, included visits to some of
our mental health services across the city.

Photo courtesy of the NHS Photo Library.

Our commitment to community engagement will
continue at a pace with our staff engaging with
more local schools, faith groups, the general
public and our members.
Working in partnership with staff,
service users and carers

We always welcome feedback about our services
from people who have direct experience of them,
as it acts as an important way for us to make
sure that we continually improve our practice,
and enables us to identify where services have
not met expectations, and to put this right. We
have a number of feedback mechanisms in place
throughout our Trust which helps us capture
compliments, complaints and suggestions such
as our mystery shopper scheme, suggestion
boxes and patient surveys.
Service user and carer groups

Our staff refer service users and carers to a host
of support groups across Birmingham and
Solihull. These groups provide great benefits to
our service users and carers as they often
provide crucial help/support from others who
have experienced similar issues.

ensure there are forums for service users and
carers to discuss opportunities and/or voice
concerns regarding our services. This feedback is
then discussed in our wider Trust to ensure
solutions are found and/or best practice is
shared.
We are grateful for the carers forums in
Birmingham and Solihull which encourage our
carers’ views. We ensure our carers’ views are
acted upon in our Trust through the new carers
voice group which meets on a regular basis.
Volunteers

Our volunteering service continues to grow at a
rapid pace. Now in its third year, the service has
attracted hundreds of people who give up their
own time to volunteer in our Trust. We are
extremely grateful to our volunteers who are
incredibly dedicated individuals supporting our
aims to continuously improve our services,
helping people get better.

The Positive Mental Health Group (PMHG) is a
monthly networking group, supported by our
Trust. This successful group allows users, carers,
staff, voluntary agencies and other stakeholder
groups to share positive practice and encourage
greater understanding of mental health issues.
Our Trust-wide User Voice project has a number
of staff, based within our services who work to
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Staff celebrate the opening of the National Centre for Mental Health-Birmingham (left to right: Dr. Jan Birtle,
Pat Hemmings, Ken Jackson, Brenda Taylor, Professor Mohan George and Kate Phipps).

NHS 60 Celebrations.

Investing to improve – Developing modern,
safe and quality environments and services
fit for the 21st century
Celebrating success

In the nine months since we became a
Foundation Trust, our staff have, and will continue
to work hard to develop and grow our business.
Achieving Foundation Trust status has allowed us
to push the boundaries of service development,
energise staff and create an environment which
encourages innovation and creativity across all
disciplines and grades of staff.
Wherever possible, our developments have been
made in partnership with our service users,
carers and their families. We encourage all types
of feedback from the people who use our
services. This helps us to make any changes
and/or improvements where appropriate,
supporting us in our delivery of truly patientcentred services.
National Centre for Mental Health –
Birmingham

In May 2008, after more than a decade of
planning and construction, our patients moved
into our new National Centre for Mental Health,
five weeks ahead of schedule. The £70m facility,
which includes the Barberry and Oleaster
buildings, is regarded as one of the largest
mental health building projects in Europe, and
one that provides facilities which inspire sensitive
patient care and provide a greater sense of
sanctuary.
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Former Health Secretary Alan Johnson and
Jo Brand, popular British comedienne and former
psychiatric nurse, officially opened the buildings
which have a number of features including:
• 137 beds
• Single in-patient bedrooms with modern ensuite facilities
• Suites offering the latest in therapeutic
activities with opportunities to provide
complementary and psychological treatments
• Fresh, contemporary rest, relaxation and
activity areas
• Unique mother and baby unit with a series
of services
• Individual male and female zones
• Multi-faith area together with library,
restaurant and fitness sections
• Open, outdoor relaxation spaces which
provide natural habitats.
The opening of these facilities in Edgbaston
were part of a number of developments opened
during the NHS’s 60th birthday celebrations.

Former Health Secretary Alan Johnson and comedienne and former psychiatric nurse Jo Brand officially open the National
Centre for Mental Health-Birmingham.

Zinnia Centre official opening

In January 2009, cook-turned-entrepreneur
Levi Roots officially opened our Zinnia Centre.

The centre, which is located in Showell Green
Lane, Sparkhill has significantly improved access
to locally-designed mental health services in the
area, previously served by an outpatient clinic on
Stratford Road.
Women’s PICU

In July 2008, after an investment of £1m, we
opened our new women’s psychiatric intensive
care unit (PICU), which is the only one of its kind
in the West Midlands.

The Erdington-based facility, was opened as part
of our on-going programme of investment in
mental health care and provides specialist
intensive care and treatment to women who have
identifiable psychiatric illness. The unit offers
therapeutic treatments delivered by specialist
staff and has a number of key features including:
• 10 beds
• Single in-patient bedrooms with modern
en-suite facilities
• Suites offering the latest in therapeutic
activities with opportunities to provide a range
of complementary and psychological
treatments
• Fresh, contemporary rest, relaxation and
activity areas
• Open, outdoor relaxation spaces which
provide natural habitats for plants and animals.

Award winning substance
misuse services

Our award winning substance misuse services in
Solihull continues to provide specialist
prescribing together with structured psychosocial
interventions. The service also participates within
the GP prescribing shared care scheme with
local GPs. In partnership with the Solihull Drug
Intervention Programme the services also
provides specialist prescribing for those clients
who are subject to a Drug Rehabilitation
Requirement (DRR) and Drug Intervention
Programme (DIP).

Having recently joined forces with Welcome (a
voluntary sector provider) this year, the Bridge
has a single care pathway and a joint approach
to care planning. The service which is now
known Solihull Integrated Addiction Services
(SIAS) is the result of over a year’s hard work.

The Bridge has been at the forefront of many
new initiatives including physical MOTs, nurse
prescribing, evening carers’ clinics. This year, the
team won the BUPA Foundation award for
patient safety scooping a prize of £10,000 for
their project, which provides training in naloxone
administration and resuscitation for all carers of
injecting drug users in treatment at The Bridge.
Solihull DASS

Solihull DASS (Detoxification Assessment and
Stabilisation Service) was set up in August 2008.
Since then the team have achieved 31 in patient
and 8 home detoxes which have been completed
successfully.
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Internal spaces at the National Centre for Mental Health-Birmingham.

The COMPASS Programme

Our COMPASS Programme provides a service
for people who experience severe and enduring
mental health problems and use drugs/alcohol
problematically. This year has seen the
programme facilitate the development of a dual
diagnosis integrated treatment within Reaside
Clinic. The Reaside Integrated Treatment Service
(RITS) is now established and is based on
training and ongoing support enabling staff to
implement and develop the model.

Pleasingly, the programme has been highlighted
as a model of good practice in the dual diagnosis
good practice handbook compiled by Turning
Point and the Department of Health (2007).
Men’s Forensic Services

In December 2008, the refurbishment of a new
family visiting room was completed at Reaside
Clinic. This project was part of the Kings Fund
Enhancing the Healing Environment Programme.
The Trust worked in partnership with the Kings
Fund and obtained £30,000 funding towards the
work from the fund.
It is hoped that the room will provide a
therapeutic environment conductive to the
rebuilding and maintenance of family
relationships.
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Women’s Forensic services

Ardenleigh offers service users a range of offward activities within a secure environment and
promotes the use of community facilities
whereby the women have the appropriate level of
external leave. In particular, the First Step Trust
Programme, who have operated at Ardenleigh
since it opened, have now moved into a
dedicated workshop space expanding the
availability of vocational and work schemes.
This has included a café and will shortly include
a print shop.
In relation to physical healthcare, Ardenleigh
offers a healthy lifestyles programme, which is
addressing amongst other issues, the NICE
guidance on obesity. The programme hosted a
day in February 2009 which offered a whole
host of physical health information.

In October 2008, the Women’s Service hosted a
certificate presentation to women and staff who
had achieved in the last year. This acknowledged
and valued a whole host of activities from
learning to swim through to completing an
element of treatment.

Photo courtesy of the NHS Photo Library.

Meriden Programme

This year our Meriden family programme was
selected for the Health Service Journal Mental
Health Innovation award from a 70 entries in the
category, and was one of just a handful of
winners who achieved this national recognition
from a total of more than 800 entries.

The initiative, which was established in 1998 and
is lead by Dr Gráinne Fadden, has trained more
than 2,600 therapists to work with families of
those with mental health issues in the West
Midlands.
Patient Advice and Liaison
Service (PALS)

Our PALS customer care service expanded its
access this year to offer service users, carers
and the public an enhanced advice and
information service - 24 hours a day.

Our PALS service, which provides advice and
information on Trust services or on any mental
health issue was launched six years ago. Since
then, the service has grown and has offered
advice and information to thousands of people.

For the period July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009,
our PALS service received over 4,500 contacts.

Our team of advisors answer queries from
service users, carers and members of the public
by telephone, text message or email. They also
spend time visiting wards, units and support
groups on a regular basis, enabling everyone to
access the service.
The single telephone number for support and
advice 24 hours a day is a Freephone number

0800 953 0045 where a PALS officer will
always be available to offer advice, guidance and
information.
Arts All Over The Place Festival

This year saw another successful year for our
Arts All Over The Place festival. The festival,
which is now in its second year, brings together
the creative talents of many people who practise
the arts in mental health services. These include
our service users, their friends, families, carers
and mental health professionals.

The festival, which takes place across
Birmingham and Solihull is an initiative from the
Creatives Network for the Arts and Health that,
inspired by our own social inclusion team, aims to
develop a wider awareness of the arts within
health care and their importance in promoting
recovery in mental health.
Future developments

Our Trust will continue to develop and grow its
business which will be based on both the
strategic objectives and the needs of the
communities we serve. Wherever possible, our
developments will be made in partnership and
after engagement with service users, their carers,
stakeholders and our members.

We recognise that we are embarking on a very
exciting journey which will see us continuing to
provide services which are at the very forefront
of modern mental health care and we are looking
forward to putting some of the following
schemes and projects in place.
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The Moseley Voles swimming group (left to right: Alex Rawlins, Andrea McKenzie, Robin Shepherd and Margo Russell).

Moseley Hall Hospital

Work on our new £18 million Moseley Hall
development for older people will begin in
June 2009 after our board gave its approval for
the project.
This specialist centre will bring acute services
and diagnostic facilities for managing physical
and mental health issues together on the same
site and will take provision of older people’s
mental health services into the 21st century,
offering the best possible care to patients and
support to their carers and families.
The facilities will be housed in new modern
buildings, incorporating latest design features
such as en suite single rooms, visitors’ facilities
and a therapy suite, all within a tranquil setting.
Staff will also benefit from new training and
seminar facilities at the site, enabling them to
keep their skills updated.
Building work is set to be completed by
December 2010, when the first patients will
receive treatment.

To see the latest progress on the Moseley Hall
development, visit www.bsmhft.nhs.uk.
Medium secure facilities

We plan to open a 90 bedded medium secure
unit for men on the Yardley Green NHS site in
eastern Birmingham. The land has been secured
and subject to business case approval, we plan
to have services operational by 2012.
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Prison mental health services –
HMP Birmingham

Working jointly with Heart of Birmingham
Teaching PCT, and HMP Birmingham, we are at
the forefront of developing and delivering
modern mental health services to a population of
1,450 prisoners.
The Integrated Drug Treatment Service
at HMP Birmingham

Our Integrated Drug Treatment Service (IDTS) at
HMP Birmingham strives towards providing a
gold standard service to patients who are often
the most complex and chaotic substance
misusers in society. The service aims to provide a
holistic treatment package which is fully
integrated with other members of the multi
disciplinary team. The service assists patients in
treatment not only for their substance misuse
problems but also other highly prevalent issues
within this cohort such as general physical health
problems, dual diagnosis, feelings of vulnerability,
low self esteem, homelessness and self harm to
name but a few. Towards the end of our patients’
treatment journey, and once a release date is
planned, we strive towards providing a seamless
treatment pathway back into community services.

Deborah Living, project manager, Full Potential Arts.

The current service is provided over two
locations, the plan for this service is to relocate in
the next few months to a new wing where the
IDTS service will be provided under one roof
enabling the service to provide a more robust
and seamless pathway of treatment and enabling
a planned redesign of the service provision.
In the first three quarters of this year the IDTS
service has seen and treated 2636 patients.
Community Enablement & Recovery
Teams (CERT)

This year will see us launch Community
Enablement and Recovery Teams (CERT) across
Birmingham and Solihull. Everybody’s Business;
DoH 2006: states; “Older people with functional
mental health problems such as depression and
psychotic mental illness, and people with
dementia should be referred to specialist
services for expert assessment and advice, and
for periods when distress or risk are particularly
severe and problems are complex.” The aim of
each CERT will be to focus on the latter by
treating and supporting service users and their
carers at home and in their local communities.

Mental Health Rapid Assessment,
Interface and Discharge (RAID) Team

During the course of next year, we will introduce
a flagship RAID team which will enable
integration of mental health and addiction
services into the acute hospital and a more
proactive approach to mental health
management in this setting. The integrated
specialist expertise in the team allows for a
single point of contact and an ageless, boundary
free service. This team will also aim to improve
the quality of care for older people and
substance misuse patients in the acute hospital.
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Financial performance

Moseley Hall older people’s development (artist’s impression) due to open December 2010.

This section provides a commentary of our Trust’s
financial performance for financial year
2008/2009.

Financial performance

The financial operating frameworks differ for
NHS trusts and NHS Foundation trusts. In this
year of transition to a Foundation Trust it has,
therefore, been necessary to prepare two sets of
accounts for 2008/09. The first set covers the
period April 1, 2008 to June 30, 2008 and
applies to Birmingham and Solihull Mental
Health NHS Trust. The second set covers the
period July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009 for
Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS
Foundation Trust.

This has been another successful year for the
Trust with a year end operating surplus of circa
£4.4m achieved before adjusting for impairments
of £11.3million. These impairments are
exceptional ‘non-cash’ terms that have either
arisen due to a decision to demolish redundant
buildings or result from a revaluation of our land
and buildings value to the general economic
conditions. The later revaluation resulted in a
number of assets moving into negative equity
(£10.2m), and in line with accounting rules the
Trust has written off this as a ‘technical’ loss. As
and when the market picks up, the Trust expects
that much of this negative equity will be
recovered, leading to a reversal of these charges.
The delivery of an operating surplus is key in
delivering our future plans and ensuring the
financial stability of our Trust. In 2009/10 this
will include the commencement of the Moseley
Hall development and continued investment in
our estate. The operating surplus also allows us
to invest in improving the quality of our services
and patient experience. In 2008/09 we have
invested in a range of developments including:
• Internet access for service users
• Physical health strategy
• Spiritual care
• Infection control
• Pharmacy staffing
• Lean thinking
• E-Rostering

Financial statements

The full set of accounts and accounting policies
are included within this report and have been
prepared in accordance with the directions given
by Monitor, the independent regulator for
foundation trusts.
After making enquiries, the Board of Directors
has a reasonable expectation that the NHS
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.
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The overview on financial performance
detailed in this section will cover the whole of
this 12-month period.

Income and expenditure summary

Income from activities
Other operating income
Total income
Operating expenses
EBITDA
Depreciation
Impairments
Profit/loss on asset disposal
Interest received
Public dividends payable
Surplus/(deficit)
Operating surplus
Income and expenditure surplus margin
EBITDA Margin

Pre FT
1/4/08 –
30/6/08
£000

Post FT
1/7/08 –
31/3/09
£000

46,498
5,640
52,138
(48,825)
3,313
(847)
(171)
1
191
(1,281)
1,206
1,377
2.6%
6.4%

* EBITDA – earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

9%

£000

£000

144,209
190,707
179,630
24,778
30,418
26,741
168,987A&C
221,125
206,371
Allied Health Professionals
(160,039)
(208,864)
(194,672)
Allied Health Professional Assistants
8,948 Ancillary 12,261
11,699
Consultant
(2,527)Drug Worker
(3,374)
(3,949)
Technicians
(11,102)
(11,273)
0
Manager
Medic
(2)
(1)
(109)
MTO
507 Nursing Assistants
698
938
(3,842)Nurse (5,123)
(4,679)
Scientist
(8,018)Technical Instructors
(6,812)
3,900
3,084
4,461
3,900
1.8%
2.0%
1.9%
5.3%
5.5%
5.7%

73%

2%

In the financialPay
year
2008/09 the Trust
costs
supplies £221
and services
Clinical
generated income
totalling
million.
Depreciation and impairments
A breakdown of
this income is detailed in the
Premises
Services from other NHS bodies
chart below: Other
3%

Total
2007/08

9%

4%

3%

Total
2008/09

6%

Total expenditure can be split as follows:

5%

1%

9%

85%

In 2008/09 we again acted as the host body for
Care Services Improvement Parternship (CSIP)
West Midlands, accounting for some £12.8m of
income and expenditure across their various
programmes. From April 1, 2009 we will no
longer be the host as CSIP will return to the
control of NHS West Midlands.

9%

4%

3%

73%

2%

Pay costs
Clinical supplies and services
Depreciation and impairments
Premises
Services from other NHS bodies
Other

Healthcare income
Education and training
R&D
CSIP
Other

85% of our income comes from PCTs for the
delivery of healthcare services. The majority of
this income is supported by cost and volume
contracts ensuring a clear link between what we
deliver and the payments we receive. We
continue to be a major provider of education and
training in the West Midlands, receiving funding
of circa £7m from NHS West Midlands.

A&C
Allied Health Professionals
Allied Health Professional Assistants
Ancillary
Consultant
Drug Worker
Technicians
Manager
Medic
MTO
Nursing Assistants
Nurse
Scientist
Technical Instructors

3%

6%

5%

It can be seen that staffing is our most valuable
1%resource. However, we operate
and expensive
85%
from over 100 sites across Birmingham and
Solihull meaning premises costs are also a major
cost driver.
In line with other NHS bodies, we saw a
Healthcare income
significant increase
in prices
for energy and
Education
and training
R&D and this is expected to
utilities in 2008/09
CSIP
continue to be Other
a cost pressure in 2009/10.
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Internal space at the Eden women’s Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU).

Service user artwork on display at BSMHFT’s Annual General Meeting.

Cash flow

Our Trust has reviewed its cash and working
capital management with the aim of bringing
cash management into line with the commercial
cash management arrangements required of
Foundation Trusts. At the end of the financial
year 2008/09 our Trust has a cash balance of
£19.8 million. In line with our Trust’s treasury
management policy, surplus cash has been
invested carefully during the year due to the
uncertainty surrounding the banking system.
Overview of capital investment and
asset values

We invested £3.9m in improving our assets this
year. This included £1.2million to keep our
buildings up to the required standards;
investment in our IT infrastructure; improvements
in security at Reaside Clinic; and preparatory
work at Moseley Hall for the new hospital.

Due to the changing economic climate, we have
prudently reviewed the value of our entire estate.
This has resulted in an adjustment to reduce the
value of our land and building assets by £27
million – a reduction of circa 20%. This exercise
ensures that a true and fair value of the Trust’s
assets are recorded in the balance sheet and
assists in future financial planning. This
revaluation has lead to the exceptional
impairment charge due to the fact that some
assets were carrying negative equity.
Financial risk rating as a
Foundation Trust

As a Foundation Trust, we report quarterly to the
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Foundation Trust regulator, Monitor. As part of
the process our financial performance is rated on
a risk rating scale of 1 to 5, where 5 is the best
rating. On authorisation, our Trust risk rating was
4. At the end of the financial year our Trust had a
rating of 4.
Long term borrowing limit

On authorisation as a Foundation Trust, we were
given a long term borrowing limit of £36m.
During the financial year 2008/09 the Trust has
not borrowed against this limit. We do however,
have plans to borrow some £17m over the next
two years to fund the new Moseley Hall
development.
Management costs

Management costs are defined on the
management cost website at
www.dh.gov.uk/PolicyAndGuidance/Organisation
alPolicy/FinanceAndPlanning/NHSManagement
Costs/fs/en.
The management costs for the three month
period, April 1, 2008 to June 30, 2008 were
£2.7 million, which represents 5.2% of income.
The management costs for the nine month
period, July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009 were
£8.45 million which represents 5% of income.
External audit

The external auditor is the Audit Commission.
In the nine month period fees of £46,000 were
paid for statutory audit services.

International Financial Reporting
Standards

From April 1, 2009 the Trust will be required to
adopt International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). In preparation for this the Trust established a
working group to determine the impact on the Trusts
balances. Our external auditors have reviewed the
arrangements in place for IFRS and we received a
‘green’ rating.

The key difference for the Trust is the impact on PFI
reporting. Given the complexity we engaged financial
advisors to advise on the correct accounting
treatment. Under IFRS we will be showing the PFI
assets on our balance sheet as our assets with a
liability to reflect the amounts due to our PFI
provider. As the same cash payments are still being
made, this has no impact on the finances of the
Trust.
Public sector pay policy

Our Trust adopts a Better Payment Practice Code in
respect of invoices received from NHS and nonNHS suppliers. The code requires our Trust to aim to
pay all undisputed invoices within 30 calendar days
of receipt of goods or a valid invoice (whichever is
the later), unless other payment terms have been
agreed.
To meet compliance with this target at least 95% of
invoices must be paid within 30 days, or within the
agreed contract term.

Total NHS invoices paid in the period
Total NHS invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS invoices paid within target
Total non-NHS invoices paid in the period
Total non-NHS invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS invoices paid within target
Our Trust’s performance against the target is
summarised in the table above:

We paid no interest during the year under the Late
Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998.
Countering fraud and corruption

The NHS Counter Fraud and Security Management
Services provide the framework through which the
Trust seeks to minimise losses through fraud. The
finance director is nominated to lead the work and is
supported by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist
(LCFS). A workplan, approved by the Audit
Committee, has been completed in the year by the
LCFS. The workplan addresses the requirements of
the Trust’s Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy.
The key aims are to seek to continue to proactively
create an antifraud culture, implement appropriate
deterrent and preventative controls and to ensure
that allegations of fraud are appropriately
investigated. Regular reports are received
throughout the year by the Audit Committee.

Outside space at the National Centre for Mental Health-Birmingham.

Pre FT
1/4/08 – 30/6/08
Number £000

229
222
97%
8,910
8,100
91%

2,341
2,336
99.8%
11,135
10,633
95%

Post FT
1/7/08 – 31/3/09
Number £000

681
654
96%
29,490
26,847
91%

9,521
9,448
99%
38,067
36,556
96%

Charitable donations

As an NHS Foundation Trust, we make no
political or charitable donations. We do however
continue to benefit from the receipt of charitable
donations, for which it is extremely grateful to
fundraisers, staff and members of the public for
their continued support.
Financial issues 2009/10

Our Trust, in line with the NHS as a whole, faces
another challenging year in 2009/10. With ever
greater pressures to meet higher efficiency
targets at the same time as maintaining high
quality services, the Trust continues to be well
placed to meet these challenges. The financial
headroom built up over the last two years will
ensure that the Trust can meet these challenges
in a planned way, ensuring that we can continue
to reduce our costs without compromising our
quality and care values.
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Staff and Governors celebrate achieving FT status (left to right: Sue Nixon, Dr. Neil Deuchar, Dr Asaf Khan, Loris Tapper,
Alan Kenny, Ros Alstead, Lawrence Innis, Vinodrai Mehta, Khalid Ali, Professor Peter Marquis, David Boden, Sue Turner,
Darren Cooper, Brian Sheppard, Sally Selvey, Gary Crellin, Lakhvir Rellon and Faheem Uddin).

Patrick Cullen reads a copy of Trust Talk.

Together we can make a difference
– join our Trust
Our Assembly of Governors

Our Assembly of Governors consists of
individuals who have been elected by local
people and who are representative of all our
membership constituencies. It also includes
nominated individuals from a range of our partner
organisations across Birmingham and Solihull.
Providing an important link between our Trust
and the communities we serve, the Assembly of
Governers supports and ensures key
organisations’ views are heard and can be used
to develop and improve services.
The Assembly of Governors is chaired by the
chairman of our Trust, who ensures the link
between the Assembly of Governors and our
board of directors.

Our Governors have a responsibility for:
• Advising our Trust on its strategic direction
• Representing the interests of members and
partner organisations
• Regularly feeding back to their constituency
• Appointing (and removing) the chair and non
executive directors
• Approving the appointment of the chief
executive
• Appointing the Trust’s auditor and receiving
the annual accounts, auditor’s report and
annual report
• Informing Monitor (the independent regulator)
of any unresolved issues.
Our Board welcomes the opportunities it has had
this year for debate with the Assembly of
Governors. Over the coming months we will be
developing a policy for engagement allowing for
a greater degree of dialogue in the future.
Elections to the Assembly of Governors
Prior to authorisation, elections were held in all
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constituencies for public, service user, carer and
staff governors. Partner organisations were also
asked to nominate a governor representative.
Thirty two of the 33 seats are now filled and
since Authorisation on July 1, 2008, the
governors have demonstrated their commitment
to and enthusiasm in their roles.

The Assembly of Governors has held four public
meetings and its work in the first nine months
has included the following:
• Discussions with executive directors on
performance and strategic direction
• The establishment of a membership subgroup which has a key objective to develop
and oversee the implementation of a plan for
future membership recruitment which will be
based on a refreshed membership strategy
• Setting the non-executives and chairmans
remuneration
• Consultation on the development of our
Annual Plan
• The Assembly of Governors has participated
in a governor induction programme, which
over the last nine months has included several
governor development events organised
around the needs of the governors.
Register of Interests

The register of interests for the assembly of
governors is available from the Foundation Trust
office on 0121 301 1229 or emailing
ft.membership@bsmhft.nhs.uk.
Expenses

Governors receive no remuneration for their role.
However, our Trust provides appropriate
reimbursement, e.g. to cover travel expenses for
Governors who participate in events or activities
arranged by our Trust.

Members of the Assembly of Governors
and record of attendance

Professor Peter Marquis is the chairman of our Trust
and also chair of the Assembly of Governors. During
the period from July 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009, he
attended all four of the Assembly’s meetings. The
attendance of the Governors is presented in the
table below.
Name

Joe Aldred
Khalid Ali
Rhonda Allen
Cllr Sue Anderson
Peter Brown
Darren Cooper
Ann Davis
Robin Felton
Carl Foulkes
June Green
Naomi Hawkins
Lawrence Innis
Kenneth Jeffers
Lynne Jones
Asaf Khan
Anne McKenzie
Vinodrai Mehta
Jane Morel
Bernadette Murray
Sue Nixon
Bridie Nugent
Sat Pat
Renganathan Ramamoorthy
John Robinson
Sue Rose
Sally Selvey
Brian Sheppard
Lynda-Jane Smith
Lorris Tapper
Faheem Uddin
Cllr Kate Wild
Lilieth Williams
Charles Zukerman

The McSweeney Gallery at the National Centre for Mental Health-Birmingham.

Constituency

Public - Birmingham East and North
Public - Rest of England and Wales
Service users and carers Rest of England and Wales
Stakeholder Birmingham City Assembly
Service users and carers Solihull Service Users
Staff - Nursing Staff
Stakeholder - University of Birmingham
Stakeholder - Alzheimer’s Society
(Voluntary Sector)
Stakeholder - West Midlands Police
Service users and carers - Carers
Staff - Non-clinical staff
Service users and carers - Carers
Public - Heart of Birmingham
Stakeholder - MP
Staff - Medical Staff
Carer
Staff – Other & AHP
Stakeholder – Terrence Higgins Trust
Public - South Birmingham
Stakeholder - PCT Commissioners
Public - South Birmingham
Public - Heart of Birmingham
Public - Birmingham East and North
Service users and carers Birmingham East & North Service Users
Public - Solihull
Staff - Nursing Staff
Public - Solihull
Service users and carers South Birmingham Service Users
Service users and carers - Carers
Service users and carers Heart of Birmingham Service Users
Stakeholder Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Stakeholder University of Central England
Stakeholder - Local Medical Committee

No. of Assembly
Meetings
attended/
possible total

Term
expires

2/4
4/4

2011
2011

0/4

2011

4/4

2011

3/4
4/4
2/4

2011
2011
2011

3/4
0/2
4/4
2/2
4/4
2/4
2/4
2/4
3/4
3/4
2/3
4/4
3/4
2/4
0/4
3/4

2011
2011
2011
2011
2012
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011
2011

2/4
3/4
4/4
4/4

2011
2011
2011
2011

3/4
3/4

2011
2011

2/4

2011

1/4

2011

3/4
3/4

2011
2011
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Keely Anne Hill celebrates the history of our Trust as part of the NHS’s 60th birthday celebrations.

Foundation Trust membership

Becoming a member of our Trust offers
local people a unique opportunity to have
their say and be involved in how our
Trust and our services are developed.
Building a meaningful and representative
membership is extremely important to us
and as such we have worked hard to
ensure there is appropriate representation
in all areas.

Throughout the year, we have held many
recruitment events which have included
roadshows in various public places,
attendance at local community groups
and public functions. Having a presence
in the community not only enables to
raise awareness of the benefits of
becoming a member of our Trust, but
also helps us provide information which
contributes to the reduction in the stigma
around mental health.
All of our new employees automatically
become members of our Foundation
Trust. As valued members, they have the
opportunity to influence our plans for our
Trust and its services. Our staff can also
choose to stand for election to the
Assembly of Governors and they can
elect Governors.

40

CONSTITUENCY

Staff – Nursing Staff
Staff – Medical Staff
Staff – Other clinical staff and other health professionals
Staff – Non-clinical staff
Total Staff Seats
Public – Birmingham East & North
Public – South Birmingham
Public – Heart of Birmingham
Public – Rest of England & Wales
Public – Solihull
Total Public Seats
Service users and carers – Birmingham East & North Service Users
Service users and carers – South Birmingham Service Users
Service users and carers – Heart of Birmingham Service Users
Service users and carers – Solihull Service Users
Service users and carers – Rest of England & Wales
Total Service User Seats
Service users and carers - Carers
Total Carer Seats
Stakeholder - Birmingham City University
Stakeholder - University of Central England
Stakeholder - Local Medical Committee
Stakeholder - Terrence Higgins Trust (Voluntary Sector)
Stakeholder - Alzheimer’s Society (Voluntary Sector)
Stakeholder - MP
Stakeholder - Birmingham City Council
Stakeholder - Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Stakeholder - West Midlands Police
Stakeholder - PCT Commissioners
Total Stakeholder Seats
TOTAL ASSEMBLY SEATS

Photo courtesy of the NHS Photo Library.

SEATS
2
1
1
1
5
2
2
2
1
2
9
1
1
1
1
1
5
4
4
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
10
33

STATUS

MEMBER(S) ELECTED

Elected by Ballot
Elected by Ballot
Candidate Elected Unopposed
Elected by Ballot

Sally Selvey/Darren Cooper
Asaf Khan
Vinodrai Mehta
Naomi Hawkins

Elected by Ballot
Elected by Ballot
Candidates Elected Unopposed
Candidate Elected Unopposed
Candidates Elected Unopposed

Joe Aldred/Renganathan Ramamoorthy
Bridie Nugent/Bernadette Murray
Sat Pal/Kenneth Jeffers
Khalid Ali
Brian James Sheppard/Sue Rose

Elected by Ballot
Elected by Ballot
Elected by Ballot
Elected by Ballot
Elected by Ballot

John Robinson
Lynda Jane Smith
Faheem Uddin
Peter Brown
Rhonda Allen

3 Candidates Elected Unopposed, 1 by Ballott

Loris Tapper/Lawrence Wesley/Innis/June Green/Anne McKenzie

As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies
As Nominated by Constitution Bodies

Professor Ann Davis
Lilieth Williams
Charles Zuckermann
Jackie Redding/Marika Williams
Robin Felton
Dr Lynne Jones
Cllr Sue Anderson
Cllr Kate Wild
Steven Rowell
Sue Nixon
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Total Membership Growth
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Levi Roots officially opens the Zinnia Centre in Sparkhill.

Membership recruitment

Our Trust has had another successful year in
recruiting members. By becoming members,
service users, staff and the community can have
a real say in the development of services, and
our plans for the future – making our Trust much
more accountable to local communities.

By March 2009, we had recruited over
11,500 members. Although we acknowledge that
we have a challenging year ahead in order to
sustain and increase our membership base, we
will continue to work hard to undertake a number
of recruitment activities building upon the
success of those we have arranged this year.
Our recruitment activities to date have included:
• attending meetings with partner organisations
• participating in voluntary sector events
• face-to-face recruitment in local shopping
centres
• publicity on our website and intranet
• mapping and targetting communities to
ensure appropriate representation.

March

We have also undertaken targeted work with
communities that were perceived to be hard to
reach and have worked with community and faith
groups to aid their understanding of our work.

Membership constituencies, size
and movements
Public constituency

We have established four public constituencies
based on the four PCTs serving Birmingham and
Solihull, and a further public constituency for the
Rest of England and Wales. We use the local
authority electoral ward boundaries, mapped to
PCT boundaries, to define the Birmingham and
Solihull constituencies. Members residing outside
these boundaries are members of the Rest of
England and Wales Constituency.

We do not deem it appropriate to set specific
population based targets, but expect membership
growth to be representative of the population we
serve. The tables below show the percentage of
the population who are members in each
constituency and ethnic group percentages.

Based on Annual Membership Report Presentation – 31 March 2009
Public

Constituency

No. of
Members

BEN
SOUTH
HoB
Solihull
Regional/National
Staff leavers

1286
1480
1356
569
1784
575*

% of Population
who are
members
0.35
0.31
0.70
0.28
n/a
n/a

Constituency

No. of
Members

BEN
SOUTH
HoB
Solihull
Regional/National

381
267
284
117
105

* An exercise is currently underway to allocate these members to a constituency
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User/Carer

% of Population
who are
members
0.12
0.07
0.13
0.06
n/a

Ethnic group percentages for public
constituencies:

ETHNIC BREAKDOWN OF MEMBERS IN THE
BIRMINGHAM EAST AND NORTH AREA
Membership
BEN PCT
Ethnicity
Population (%) Population (%)
Asian or
Asian British
31.64
08.46
Black or
Black British
11.99
03.99
Chinese or other 01.52
00.54
Mixed
02.24
02.28
White
52.61
84.75
ETHNIC BREAKDOWN OF MEMBERS IN THE
SOLIHULL AREA
Membership
Solihull
Ethnicity
Population (%) Population (%)
Asian or
Asian British
11.45
02.54
Black or
Black British
03.76
00.95
Chinese or other 01.45
00.63
Mixed
01.45
01.29
White
82.48
94.59
ETHNIC BREAKDOWN OF MEMBERS IN THE
HEART OF BIRMINGHAM AREA
Membership
HoB PCT
Ethnicity
Population (%) Population (%)
Asian or
Asian British
47.59
51.67
Black or
Black British
23.14
13.33
Chinese or other 02.73
01.9
Mixed
03.98
29.13
White
22.56
03.97
ETHNIC BREAKDOWN OF MEMBERS IN THE
SOUTH BIRMINGHAM AREA
Membership
South B’ham
Ethnicity
Population (%) Population (%)
Asian or
Asian British
31.22
08.38
Black or
Black British
09.78
03.27
Chinese or other 02.02
02.68
Mixed
02.02
02.68
White
54.96
84.41

Service User and Carers Constituency

This constituency is open to anyone who has
used our services upon registration as a member.
Constituency membership is governed by
eligibility criteria detailed in the agreed
constitution.
Because carers’ needs and experiences can at
times be very different from those of service
users’ we created a separate carer class within
this constituency. This consists of carers of
service users from throughout the Trust, and is
not geographically determined.

Service users and carers can choose whether to
join the public membership constituency related
to where they live or to join the service user and
carer constituency. Each January, the
membership database will be validated to give
members the opportunity to confirm or change
their constituency status. We continue to aim to

attract service user and carer members from as
wide a range of services as possible and from all
geographical areas.
Staff Constituency

The staff constituency is open to all members of
staff who are permanent employees, on fixed
term contracts of 12 months or more, or who
have worked at the Trust for at least 12 months
– as defined by the agreed constitution.
The staff constituency is sub-divided into the
following four classes:

• Nursing staff
• Medical staff
• Professions aligned to medicine (including
professional social care staff)
• Non-clinical staff (including social care staff
and estates and facilities staff under PFI
arrangements)
Ethnicity
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Chinese or other
Mixed
White

Staff Membership (%)
20
16
00
12
52

Membership

At the point of authorisation on July 1, 2008, our
Trust had a total membership of 11068, however
a significant exercise was undertaken during the
period to review and cleanse the data which
resulted in total membership of 9,832. At March
31, 2009 our membership stood at 11,520.
Future plans

As we continue to develop our services, we will
continue to encourage staff, service users and
carers and members of the local communities we
serve to become involved as members of our
Foundation Trust.

Not only do our plans for future membership
recruitment include some of the more successful
initiatives used previously, but they will draw upon
the expertise and contacts of our Assembly of
Governors to encourage new member growth.
We acknowledge that their established
involvement in community and voluntary
organisations provides us with an ideal
opportunity to reach out to potential members by
explaining what being a Foundation Trust means
to them and outlining the benefits of
membership.
The Foundation Trust office

Our Foundation Trust office is the initial point of
contact for members to make contact with our
Trust or governors. The office can be contacted
by telephoning 0121 301 1229 or emailing
ft.membership@bsmhft.nhs.uk.

Getting Better, Together. 43

Service user artwork, Phoenix Centre art group.

Board of Directors

Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors manage the business of our
Trust and are the legally responsible body for
making decisions relating to the strategic direction
and performance of our Trust.

The Board of Directors comprises six non executive
directors (including the chairman) and five executive
directors (including the chief executive). They meet
every month in private and have a further two
meetings a year in public session, including the
annual general meeting which is held in September.
The chairman is responsible for ensuring that the
board of directors focus on the strategic
development of our Trust and for ensuring robust
governance and accountability arrangements are in
place, as well as undertaking an evaluation of the
performance of the Board of Directors, its
committees and individual Non Executive Directors.
Out Trust does not have a senior independent
director, but all our Non Executive Directors are
considered to be independent.

A review of the Board of Director’s balance,
completeness and appropriateness was undertaken
as part of the application for Foundation Trust
status. Whilst some changes to the portfolios of
Executive Directors have been made, it was decided
that the composition of the Board of Directors was
balanced, complete and appropriate. The Board of
Directors will undertake the review again during
2009/10.
Since Authorisation, the Board of Directors have
assessed its compliance with Monitor’s Code of
Governance. Our Trust is compliant with the Code
and it provisions, with the exception of provision
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C.2.1, as the Executive Directors do not have fixed
term or rolling contracts.

The Board of Directors discharges its duties for
day-to-day management of the operational activities
of our Trust to the Senior Management Team which
comprises the Executive Directors and designated
Senior Directors. The senior management team
meets on a regular basis to ensure that their
delegated duties are appropriately discharged.
In the first part of the statement, our Trust has to
report on how it applies the main and supporting
principles of the code. The form and content of this
part of the statement are not prescribed, the
intention being that trusts should have a free hand
to explain their governance policies, including any
special circumstances applying to them which have
led to a particular approach.

All members of the Trust Board subscribe to the
Code of Conduct for NHS Managers. Our directors,
managers and staff are required to adopt high
standards of corporate and personal conduct in
respect of offers of hospitality, declaration of
interests and prevention of fraud and corruption.
Policies relating to these matters are available from
our Trust Secretary.

Process for the appointment or removal of
the Chair and Non-Executive directors

Under our Constitution, the Assembly of Governors
has powers to appoint and remove the Chair and
Non-Executive Directors of our Trust. Termination of
an appointment requires three quarters in favour by
the the members of the Assembly of Governors.

Positive Mental Health - St. Patrick’s Day Parade, Birmingham.
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Meet our Trust Board
Professor Peter Marquis
Chairman
Term: 4 years

An experienced scientist with
extensive managerial skills, Professor
Peter Marquis has been the Chairman
of Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS
Foundation Trust since September 2007 and prior to
this appointment, Peter was a Non-Executive Director
and Chair of the Clinical Governance Committee at
Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Trust for a
period of 4 years.

Peter is the Chairman of CPD-HQ Ltd; a University Elearning company and up until October 2008, he was
Dean of Health & Life Sciences and a member of the
University Strategic Management Committee. From
1989 to 1999, Peter was a Governor of Solihull College.

Peter holds a BSc (Hons) degree, a PhD and he is a
fellow of the Institute of Materials, Mining and Metallurgy
(FIMM). His engagement with the community and
service users includes 8 years as the President of Fox
Hollies Swimming Club, from 1991-1999; and the
Chairman of Sharmans Cross Primary School Parent
Teacher Association from 1987-1991.
Interests: Chairman, CPD HQ Limited.

Sue Turner
Chief Executive

Prior to her appointment as Chief
Executive in 2003, Sue held the
position of Chief Executive at the
then, South Birmingham Mental
Health NHS Trust.

Sue has also held the post of Deputy Chief Executive of
the Riverside Mental Health Trust and was the former
Chair of the Hamlet Trust; a charitable organisation
working in Central and Eastern Europe.
Having worked in the NHS for over 27 years, Sue’s
background includes a number of senior managerial
roles which involved her leading and supporting
reconfiguration and remodelling of acute health services
in inner London teaching hospitals. Sue has also held
managerial positions at the Lewisham and North
Southwark Health Authority (Guys, New Cross, and
Lewisham) and the Riverside Health Authority
(St Stephen’s, Charing Cross, Westminster).
In addition, Sue has carried out a wide range of
commercial and public sector projects. She led and
achieved successful implementation and bedding down
of 4 multi million pound investment programmes; these
were: secure services in West London, women’s Secure
Services, CAMHS Secure Services and general acute
mental health; all of which were in Birmingham.

Sue, who holds a BSc and an MSc, is a member of the
British Psychological Society and is consistently involved
in a range of service user, family and community
involvement activities.
Interests: Nil to declare.
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Stan Baldwin
Non-Executive Director
Term: 4 years

Appointed to the Trust Board in 2003,
Stan has extensive public sector
experience which includes 8 years
developing community services in the
City of Birmingham. He is the former Chief Executive of
Wyre Forest District Council and currently provides
public sector consultancy.
Interests: Self-employed consultant.
David Boden
Non-Executive Director
Term: 4 years

David is a property investor and former
deputy director of Solihull Samaritans.
He was appointed to the Board in
2006 after serving as chairman of the
Trust’s Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Forum.

Interests: Chief Executive – W Boden & Co Ltd.
Justice of the Peace, Sutton Coldfield Bench.
Sukhbinder Singh Heer
Non-Executive Director
Term: 4 years

Sukhbinder is the founder and
Executive Chairman of IC2 Capital, a
private equity fund. He previously held
the position of Managing Partner of
RSM Robson Rhodes and has extensive experience in
financially managing, growing and aligning organisations
to meet and exceed stakeholders’ expectations.
Interests: Nil to declare.

Stella Layton
Non-Executive Director
Term: 4 years

Stella is the current European
president of Cookson Precious Metals,
responsible for all European
operations, with a turnover of £200m
per year.
Interests: Nil to declare.

Alison Lord
Non-Executive Director
Term: 4 years

Alison is a qualified accountant and
director of her own business Allegra
Limited, which was established in
2005 to provide practical turnaround
assistance for companies facing cash-flow problems.
Interests: Nil to declare.

Ros Alstead
Executive Director of Nursing

Prior to her apointment at
BSMHFT as Executive Director of
Nursing, Ros held the position of
Director of Nursing and Quality at the
then, South Birmingham Mental
Health NHS Trust. Throughout her
career, Ros has contributed her knowledge and
expertise of modernising mental health services to a
number of national inquries and committees, and
has acted as an expert nurse on the Richardson
Committe which advised the Sectretary of State on
future mental health act legislation. Her wealth of
experience at board level spans a number of positions
held at Trusts and health authorities in both London and
the Midlands. Ros holds an MBA, BSc in Nursing
Studies and is a RMN and RGN.
Interests: Vice chair of the National Mental Health
Nurse Directors Forum.
Dr Neil Deuchar
Medical Director

Dr Neil Deuchar is Consultant
Psychiatrist and Medical Director of
Birmingham and Solihull Mental
Health NHS Foundation Trust,
Honorary Senior Research Fellow –
Department of Neurosciences,
University of Birmingham; and Medical Director Advisor
(Workforce Reform) to the Care Services Improvement
Partnership (West Midlands Development Centre). His
qualifications are MBBS, DRCOG, MMedSc, FRCPsych.
He is a Fellow of the British Association of Medical
Managers.

Karen Martin
Deputy Chief Executive

Director of Workforce and
Organisational Development

Karen was appointed as Deputy
Chief Executive for BSMHFT in
2006 having worked for three
years as Executive Director of Organisational and
Workforce Development. In July 2008, Karen
successfully led the trust as Foundation Trust project
Director to successful licensing. Her current portfolio
includes performance management across the Trust.

Karen has worked in the NHS for 26 years and has a
wealth of experience in human resource/organisational
development, leadership and change management.
She held senior management and director positions
at health authority, specialist health authority and
acute sector level.

Karen is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel
and Development and holds a MSc in Public Sector
Management.
Interests: Nil to declare.

Chris Tidman
Executive Director of Resources

Chris joined BSMHFT as Executive
Director of Finance and Resources in
2006. Throughout his NHS career,
Chris has held a number of
directorships and senior management
positions at both health authority and
PCT environments.

Chris has a wealth of experience in leading on PFI
finance, capital investment, business planning and
contract development. He holds a first class degree in
accountancy and is a member of the Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants
Interests: Nil to declare.

His career has taken him from journalism and public
relations into general practice and then to psychiatry.
His specialist areas of clinical expertise include eating
disorders and perinatal psychiatry. His areas of
managerial specialism include the provision of
psychological therapies, care pathways, New Ways of
Working, collaborative commissioning of mental health
services and translational research and development.
His academic interests include spirituality and the
relationship between religion and psychiatry.

Interests: Board member, Centre for Health and Healing,
St Martin’s Church, Birmingham Bull Ring.
Partner Midlands Psychiatric Partnership.
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Attendance at the Board of Directors meeting in the period since July 1,
2008 to March 31, 2009 is presented in the table below:
Name

Position

Professor Peter Marquis Chairman
Sue Turner
Chief Executive Officer
Karen Martin
Executive Director of
Human Resources and
Organisational Development/
Deputy Chief Executive
Ros Alstead
Executive Director of Nursing
Neil Deuchar
Executive Medical Director
Chris Tidman
Executive Director of Resources
Stan Baldwin
Non Executive Director
Stella Layton
Non Executive Director
David Boden
Non Executive Director
Alison Lord
Non Executive Director
Sukhbinder Singh Heer Non Executive Director
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors
comprises the five Non Executive Directors and is chaired by
Stella Layton, Non-Executive Director. The Committee has
delegated authority for all decisions relating to the
remuneration and terms of service of the Chief Executive and
Executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee also acts as the Nominations
Committee to oversee appointments to our Trust Board. This
committee has met three times since Foundation Trust
authorisation.

Name

Position

Professor Peter Marquis Chairman
Stan Baldwin
Non Executive Director
Stella Layton
Non Executive Director
(Chair of the Remuneration
Committee)
David Boden
Non Executive Director
Alison Lord
Non Executive Director
Sukhbinder Singh Heer Non Executive Director
Sue Turner
Chief Executive Officer
(in attendance only)

Meetings
Attended/Possible

9/9
8/9

8/9
8/9
7/9
9/9
7/9
7/9
9/9
7/9
8/9
Meetings
Attended/Possible
2/3
3/3
3/3
3/3
3/3
3/3

3/3
It is made up of our chairman and non-executive directors are
Further details relating to the remuneration of the Board of Directors is
members. The chief executive is in attendance with other
provided within the Remuneration Report on page 50.
directors invited as appropriate.
Audit Committee

The duties of the Committee can be categorised as follows:

To review the establishment and maintenance of an effective system
of integrated governance, risk management and internal control, across
the whole of the organisation’s activities (both clinical and non-clinical)
that supports the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.
In particular, the Committee will review the adequacy of:
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• All risk and control related disclosure statements
(in particular the Statement on Internal Control and
declarations of compliance with the Standards for
Better Health), together with any accompanying
Head of Internal Audit statement, external audit
opinion or other appropriate independent
assurances, prior to endorsement by the Board
• The underlying assurance processes that indicate
the degree of the achievement of corporate
objectives, the effectiveness of the management
of principal risks and the appropriateness of the
above disclosure statements
• The policies for ensuring compliance with relevant
regulatory, legal and code of conduct requirements
• The policies and procedures for all work related to
fraud and corruption as set out in
Secretary of State Directions and as required by the
Counter Fraud and Security Management Service.

Name

The Audit Committee has overseen an extensive review of Clinical
Governance arrangements which has been undertaken by the Audit
Commission and recommedations have been implemented to further
strengthen our Clinical Governance arrangements.

The Committee is chaired by Sukhbinder Singh Heer, Non Executive
Director. Attendance at the meetings held in the period July 1, 2008
– March 31, 2009 is presented in the table below:
Position

Sukhbinder Singh Heer Non Executive Director
(Chair of the Audit Committee)
David Boden
Non Executive Director
Stan Baldwin
Non Executive Director
Stella Layton
Non Executive Director
Alison Lord
Non Executive Director
(Deputy Chair of the
Audit Committee)
Chris Tidman
Executive Director of Resources
Gary Crellin
Secretary to the Audit Committee

Meetings
Attended/Possible
5/7
6/7
6/7
2/7
4/7
7/7
5/7

Also in attendance at the meetings are the Director of Finance and representatives
from internal and external audit and the Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Specialist.
Our audit committee met on a more frequent basis than usual this year and has to
be commended on its achievements to date.

Mental Health Act Committee

The Mental Health Act Committee is a
sub-committee of the Birmingham and Solihull
Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust Board
responsible for discharging all requirements of
the Mental Health Act 1983 (as amended). It
meets quarterly, with six monthly reports to our
Trust Board.
It exists to:

• Maintain an overview of the operation of the
MHA within BSMHFT ensuring that any
compulsory detention of service users within
the Trust is legally managed
• Be responsible for the development, review
and implementation of MHA policies and
procedures for use within BSMHFT to
support compliance with the Mental Health
Act
• Receive and review Care Quality Commission
(previously, MHA Commission) visit reports
and other relevant external reports and ensure
responses are co-ordinated
• Receive the results of clinical audits and other
reviews of the use of the Mental Health Act
and oversee the implementation of
recommendations.
Membership

• Chair - David Boden (Non-Executive Director)
Meetings attended/Possible - 4/4
• Mental Health Act Manager
• Senior Lay Manager
• 5 MHA Lay Managers appointed by the
Mental Health Act Managers group
• Medical Director or deputy
• Director of Nursing or deputy
• Trust Board Secretary/In-House Solicitor
• Head of Healthcare Standards
• A representative from Birmingham City
Council (Adults and Communities)
• Two representatives from Medical Advisory
Committee (MAC)
• A representative from Solihull Metropolitan
Borough Council

The Chief Executive is an ex officio member of
the committee. A representative from User Voice
attends the committee as an observer.
All Trust Committee meetings during
the period were quorate

Director Independence and Register
of Interests

All directors are considered to be independent as
per the requirements of Monitor’s Code of
Governance.
The Register of Directors’ Interests can be found
on page 46 and 47 of this report.
Public interest disclosures
Occupational health

In October 2008, we appointed Team Prevent,
occupational health provider to deliver a
comprehensive service to our workforce. Prior to
this date, we held a contract with University
Hospital Birmingham for the delivery of
occupational health services to our workforce.
Countering fraud and corruption

The NHS Counter Fraud and Security
Management Services provide the framework
through which the Trust seeks to minimise losses
through fraud. The Executive Director of
Resources is nominated to lead the work and is
supported by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist
(LCFS). A workplan, approved by the Audit
Committee, has been completed in the year by
the LCFS. The workplan addresses the
requirements of our Trust’s Counter Fraud and
Corruption Policy.
The key aims are to seek to continue to
proactively create an antifraud culture, implement
appropriate deterrent and preventative controls
and to ensure that allegations of fraud are
appropriately investigated. Regular reports are
received throughout the year by the Audit
Committee.
Consultation

In the period covered by this report, we have held
no consultations.
We hold annual briefing sessions with our four
local Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSCs)
within Birmingham and Solihull.

We also attend local OSCs on request to provide
a broader overview of service provision within
Birmingham and Solihull and to discuss any
service changes.
Any information about specific consultations is
published on our website www.bsmhft.nhs.uk
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Salary and Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers Salaries and Allowances
2008-09
Salary

Name & Title

Prof P Marquis
(Non-Executive
Director, Chairman)
Mrs S Layton
(Non-Executive
Director)
Ms A Lord
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mr WS Baldwin
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mr S Heer
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mrs P Brookfield
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mr D Boden
(Non-Executive
Director)
Ms S Turner
(Chief Executive)
Dr N Deuchar
(Medical Director)
Mr C Tidman
(Executive Director
of Resources)
Mrs K Martin
(Deputy Chief
Executive)
Ms R Alstead
(Executive Director
of Nursing)
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(bands of
£5000)
£000

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
£5000)
£000

Benefits
in kind
(rounded to
the nearest
£

15-20

30-35

10-15

2007-08
Salary

(bands of
£5000)
£000

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
£5000)
£000

Benefits
in kind
(rounded to
the nearest
£

0

0

0

0

0

0

0-5

0

0

10-15

0

0

0-5

0

0

10-15

0

0

5-10

0

0

10-15

0

0

0-5

0

0

N/A

N/A

N/A

5-10

0

0

10-15

0

0

5-10

0

0

150-155

0

0

145-150

0

0

115-120

20-25

0

115-120

20-25

0

115-120

0

0

95-100

0

0

115-120

0

0

100-105

0

0

100-105

0

0

95-100

0

0

9 months ending 31 March 2009

3 months ending 30 June 2008

Salary

Name & Title

Prof P Marquis
(Non-Executive
Director, Chairman)
Mrs S Layton
(Non-Executive
Director)
Ms A Lord
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mr WS Baldwin
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mr S Heer
(Non-Executive
Director)
Mr D Boden
(Non-Executive
Director)
Ms S Turner
(Chief Executive)
Dr N Deuchar
(Medical Director)
Mr C Tidman
(Executive Director
of Resources)
Mrs K Martin
(Deputy Chief
Executive)
Ms R Alstead
(Executive Director
of Nursing)
Pension liabilities

(bands of
£5000)
£000

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
£5000)
£000

Benefits
in kind
(rounded to
the nearest
£

25-30

0

10-15

(bands of
£5000)
£000

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
£5000)
£000

Benefits
in kind
(rounded to
the nearest
£

0

5-10

0

0

0

0

0-5

0

0

10-15

0

0

0-5

0

0

10-15

0

0

0-5

0

0

10-15

0

0

0-5

0

0

10-15

0

0

0-5

0

0

115-120

0

0

35-40

0

0

105-110

15-20

0

25-30

5-10

0

90-95

0

0

20-25

0

0

90-95

0

0

25-30

0

0

75-80

0

0

20-25

0

0

Past and present employees are members of the
NHS Pension scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers
NHS employers. The scheme is not designed to
be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Further details are within the
Annual Accounts on page 66.

Salary

Ill health retirements

During the nine month period there were 5 early
retirements due to ill health. The costs of these
are borne by the NHS Business Services
Authority – Pensions Division. Further details are
within the annual accounts on page 72.
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Pension benefits

Real
increase in
pension at
age 60

£2500)

(bands of
£2500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60
ending 31
March
2009
(bands of
£5000)

5-7.5

17.5-20

50-55

150-155

932

638

294

0-2.5

2.5-5

25-30

80-85

500

360

140

5-7.5

15-17.5

20-25

70-75

326

201

125

5-7.5

17.5-20

35-40

115-120

642

423

219

0-2.5

2.5-5

35-40

115-120

760

566

194

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

12 month period (bands of
Name and Title

Ms S Turner
(Chief Executive)
Dr N Deuchar
(Medical Director)
Mr C Tidman
(Executive Director
of Resources)
Mrs K Martin
(Deputy Chief
Execitive)
Ms R Alstead
(Executive Director
of Nursing)

9 month period
Name and Title

Ms S Turner
(Chief Executive)
Dr N Deuchar
(Medical Director)
Mr C Tidman
(Executive Director
of Resources)
Mrs K Martin
(Deputy Chief
Execitive)
Ms R Alstead
(Executive Director
of Nursing)

3 month period
Name and Title

Ms S Turner
(Chief Executive)
Dr N Deuchar
(Medical Director)
Mr C Tidman
(Executive Director
of Resources)
Mrs K Martin
(Deputy Chief
Execitive)
Ms R Alstead
(Executive Director
of Nursing)

£000

Lump sum
at aged 60
related to
real
increase in
pension

£000

£000

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension
ending 31
March 2009
(bands of
£5000)

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value
ending 31
March 2009

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value
ending 31
March 2008

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value during
period

£000

£000

£000

£000

5 – 7.5

15 – 17.5

50 – 55

150 – 155

932

644

275

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

25 – 30

80 – 85

500

374

118

5 – 7.5

15 – 17.5

20 – 25

70 – 75

326

212

109

5 – 7.5

15 – 17.5

35 – 40

115 – 120

642

429

205

0 – 2.5

2.5 - 5

35 - 40

115 - 120

760

575

174

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

40 – 45

130 - 135

644

638

2

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

25 – 30

75 – 80

374

360

11

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

15 – 20

55 – 60

212

201

9

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

30 – 35

95 – 100

429

423

3

0 – 2.5

0 – 2.5

35 - 40

110 – 115

575

566

5

Remuneration received by non-executive members is not pensionable and so this information is not applicable.
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Accounts

Statement of the chief
executive's responsibilities as
the accounting officer of
Birmingham and Solihull Mental
Health NHS Foundation Trust

The National Health Service Act 2006 states that
the chief executive is the accounting officer of
the NHS foundation trust. The relevant
responsibilities of accounting officer, including
their responsibility for the propriety and regularity
of public finances for which they are answerable,
and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set
out in the accounting officers' Memorandum
issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS
Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006,
Monitor has directed the Birmingham and Solihull
Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust to prepare
for each financial year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set out in the
Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of Birmingham
and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust
and of its income and expenditure, total
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for
the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer
is required to comply with the requirements of
the NHS foundation trust Financial Reporting
Manual and in particular to:

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by
Monitor, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
• make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis;
• state whether applicable accounting standards
as set out in the NHS foundation trust

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed,
and disclose and explain any material departures
in the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the NHS foundation trust and to
enable him/her to ensure that the accounts
comply with requirements outlined in the above
mentioned Act. The Accounting officer is also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
NHS foundation trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting
Officer Memorandum.

Chief Executive

Date: 27 May 2009
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Foreword to the accounts

These accounts for the nine month period ended March 31, 2009 have been prepared by the
Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and
25, schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006 in the form Monitor has, with the approval of
the Treasury, directed.
The NHS Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirement set out in
the HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information guidance.
STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
2008/09

ORGANISATION NAME: Birmingham &
Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust
1. Scope of responsibility

The Board is accountable for internal control. As
Accounting Officer, and Chief Executive of this
Board, I have responsibility for maintaining a
sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims
and objectives. I also have responsibility for
safeguarding the public funds and the
organisation’s assets for which I am personally
responsible as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
2. The purpose of the system of
internal control

The system of internal control is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The system of internal control is
based on an ongoing process designed to:
• Identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the organisation’s policies,
aims and objectives,

• Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being
realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.

The system of internal control has been in place
in Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March
2009 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and accounts.
3. Capacity to handle risk

Leadership arrangements for risk management
are clearly documented in the Risk Management
Strategy approved by Trust Board, and are further
supported by the Trust’s business plan objectives
and individual job descriptions.
As Accountable Officer, I sign the Statement on
Internal Control (SIC) on behalf of the Board. To
discharge this accountability, I delegate risk
management responsibilities as follows;

The Medical Director and the Director of Nursing
have joint delegated responsibility for clinical risk
management and clinical governance. The
Medical Director has particular responsibility for
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overseeing the Care Programme Approach,
Clinical Effectiveness, Information Governance
and acts as the Caldicott Guardian. The Medical
Director chairs the Information Governance
Committee, using the Information Toolkit to
identify and manage risks around data security
and data loss.

The Director of Nursing has Board level
responsibility for risk management and chairs the
Trust Clinical Governance Committee and Risk
Management Committee. She is supported by the
Associate Director of Governance who has
operational responsibility for ensuring that risk
management processes are in place across the
Trust.
The Director of Nursing also has particular
responsibility for risk management processes
around health and safety, prevention, control of
infection and decontamination, local security
management (NHS SMS), CNST, Safeguarding
Children, Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults and
complaints.

The Executive Director of Resources has
responsibility for managing the development,
implementation and management of financial
control and IM&T systems. The Trust’s Finance
Committee plays a key role in managing financial
risk and in ensuring that resources are deployed
economically and effectively.

The Deputy Chief Executive/ Director of
Workforce and Organisational Development has
delegated responsibility for performance
management and managing risks associated with
human resources. A Performance Management
and Improvement Board has been in place
throughout 2008/09, ensuring that performance
across a range of quality and productivity metrics
is monitored and delivered, and that action
plans are in place to address any identified
weaknesses.

The Director of Commercial Services & Asset
management has overall responsibility for the
Trust estate, plant, waste management, fire safety,
environmental management and major incident
planning. During the year, the Trust’s Major
Incident Planning processes were peer reviewed,
giving me assurance that they were fit for
purpose.
Three Directors of Strategic Delivery have
delegated responsibility for managing operational
risk across their Divisions.
Clinical Directors and the other Professional

Heads have responsibility for the systems of risk
management at Divisional level and lead their
implementation.

The Trust’s Risk Management Training Policy
defines the range of statutory and mandatory risk
management training identified for staff based
upon a trust wide training needs analysis. Training
also includes a nationally accredited course for
managers to ensure they are equipped to
manage risks appropriate to their level of
responsibility and duties, and are competent to
fulfil their roles. In addition, there is a range of
policies in place to describe staff roles in relation
to the identification and management of risk. All
relevant policies are available on the intranet.
Furthermore, all new members of staff are
required to attend a mandatory induction that
covers key elements of risk management.
The Trust learns from good practice through a
range of mechanisms including benchmarking,
clinical supervision and reflective practice,
individual and peer reviews, performance
management, continuing professional
development programmes, clinical audit and
application of evidence-based practice and
meeting risk management standards.
Furthermore, the Trust ethos is to systematically
review and learn from untoward incidents and
complaints. There is a Learning Lessons Group
which reports to the Clinical Governance
Committee on actions taken in response to
trends and themes. Good practice and changes
to policies are communicated through email,
intranet, divisional reports, newsletters and team
briefs.

There are formal mechanisms in place to ensure
that external changes to best practice, such as
those issued by the National Institute for Health
and Clinical Excellence, are incorporated into
Trust policies and procedures.
4. The risk and control framework

The risk management strategy clearly defines the
leadership and processes required to manage
risk, and states the important link to the
performance management and business planning
systems.
The Trust’s approach to risk is made clear to all
staff: that is that risk cannot be eliminated and
that sometimes risks of a particular intervention
need to be balanced against the risk of doing
nothing. It is also emphasised that a completely
risk averse culture can sometimes stifle
innovation and service improvement. Therefore,
the Trust emphasises the importance of
measuring and mitigating risk, rather than
seeking to eradicate all risk. The principle of
learning lessons is also stressed - it is every staff
member’s duty to seek to minimise risk and to
report untoward incidents where they occur in
order to prevent re-occurrence. All members of
staff are responsible for managing risks within

the scope of their role and as part of their
responsibilities as employees of the Trust,
working to professional codes of conduct.

The Trust Board, through the Risk Management
Policy, promotes open and honest reporting of
incidents, risks and hazards. This is supported by
a range of policies that staff are required to
comply with.

Use of a nationally recognised 5 x 5 risk rating
tool (likelihood x impact, where 1 is low and 5
high), supported by agreed assurance level
definitions ensures a standard approach is taken
to prioritising risks. All notified risks are then
validated by the Trust’s risk management team to
ensure consistency. All divisional risks rated at 12
or over are captured on the Trust risk register.

During the year, the Trust developed a clinical
quality dashboard approach to systematically
focus on areas of key clinical risk. Furthermore,
following a review commissioned by the Trust
Board, the Trust’s Clinical Governance Committee
refocused its agenda to spend more time
considering exceptions and lessons learned. This
has been supported by the appointment of
Account Directors who have the key responsibility
to investigate Serious Untoward Incidents and to
safeguard the patient experience.
There are robust formal mechanisms for
engaging with partner organisations, governors,
service users and the wider public, ensuring that
risks are fully understood and are embedded into
business planning and performance management
processes.
The Trust works closely with key stakeholders
and there are a number of joint structures that
already exist between agencies (e.g. Partnership
Boards). The Trust will endeavour to involve
partner organisations in all aspects of risk
management. Key partners include providers of
shared services to the Trust, PCTs, other NHS
organisations, Social Care, HMP Birmingham, the
Police, statutory and voluntary bodies and service
user and carer groups.

The Assurance Framework 2008/9 is developed
via the Strategic Risk Management Committee
throughout the year and reported to the Board on
a quarterly basis. The key risks are used to inform
the Trust’s Annual planning processes, managed
through the Business Development Committee.
The Assurance Framework provides the Board
with the required assurance that risks to
achieving key strategic objectives are being
effectively controlled. .
In response to a number of national issues
around breaches in patient confidentiality, the
Information Governance Committee has endorsed
a policy to mitigate the risks around data security,
and data loss. We had one data security incident
during the year relating to a lost data stick, which
was reported to both NHS West Midlands and
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the Information Commissioner. Since the
information was password protected, all parties
were satisfied that this did not amount to a
significant incident that required further
escalation. However, in order that lessons are
learned, further measures have been put in place
to ensure that all clinical staff understand the
guidance and the importance of using trust
issued encrypted data sticks.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership
of the NHS Pension scheme, control measures
are in place to ensure all employer obligations
contained within the Scheme regulations are
complied with. This includes ensuring that
deductions from salary, employer’s contributions
and payments in to the Scheme are in
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that
member Pension Scheme records are accurately
updated in accordance with the timescales
detailed in the Regulations. The Trust has also
undertaken its own data cleanse exercise with all
staff to ensure records are maintained at an
optimum level.
5. Review of Economy, Efficiency and
Effectiveness of the use of resources.

During the year, the Trust received an ‘Auditors
Local Evaluation’ assessment from its external
auditors confirming a ‘Use of Resources’ score of
Good in respect of the 2007/08 financial year.
Due to the continued efforts of all BSMHFT staff
during 2008/09, BSMHFT maintained a financial
risk rating of 4, which equates to a ‘Use of
Resources’ rating of excellent. Despite a
challenging 3% year on year savings target, we
have again managed to deliver this on a recurring
basis.
The Head of Internal Audit opinion given for
2008/09 has also given BSMHFT significant
assurance on its core internal control systems,
including the way in which the trust manages its
budgetary control and financial management
systems.

To coincide with the changes in operating
structures, the Trust’s finance team was realigned
and strengthened further, ensuring that the Trust
continues to have the skills and capacity to meet
the Trust’s strategic objectives going forward.

The Trust’s finance team also began to utilise the
cost and volume contracting information to
produce Service Line Reporting analysis,
indicating the relative productivity of each ward
and team against internal and external
benchmarks. This has helped to inform the Trust’s
strategic planning as well as focus on areas for
efficiency improvement.
We also commissioned a benchmarking analysis
from the Audit Commission, indicating our relative
spending and productivity metrics against our
peer group. This has been used to inform our
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strategic planning.

During the year we have also established our
own procurement team to ensure improved
internal controls over ordering, and to support
staff in tendering for better value services. During
the year, we have tendered for a new
Occupational Health provider as well as a new
internal audit provider with effect from
1st April 2009.
Due to the significant spend on bank and agency
staffing, we also procured an electronic rostering
system in order to assist our ward managers in
optimising our use of nursing resources.
Finally, we have been employing ‘lean thinking’
methodology in a number of Rapid Improvement
Events, with the aim of redesigning processes to
eliminate waste and errors, improving both cost
effectiveness and quality.

For these reasons, I am satisfied that our systems
and processes for ensuring value for money
remain strong.
6. Review of effectiveness

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the executive
directors within the Trust, who have the
responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control system, and
the comments made by the external auditors in
their management letter and other reports. I have
been advised on the implications of the result of
my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control by the Board, the Audit
Committee, and a plan to address identified
weaknesses and continuous improvement is in
place.
In arriving at my opinion, I have taken assurance
from;
• In 2007/8 The Trust received a rating of
excellent for quality of services.

• The Foundation Trust application process- the
Trust had to satisfy exacting standards around
governance processes and board capabilities
set by Monitor, the FT regulator, in order to
become licensed on 1st July 2008.

• The Trust Board - financial, operational and
clinical performance have been reviewed
monthly throughout the year. The Board has
also regularly reviewed its strategic risks
through reports and seminar discussion on the
Assurance Framework. In response to the
drive to establish more quantitative clinical
quality metrics, the Board established a
separate task and finish group that led to
improved reporting on clinical governance
matters.

• The Audit Committee – This was significantly
strengthened as part of the FT application
process, and is chaired by a Non Executive
Director with the necessary financial and
governance experience. All Non Executive
Directors are members of the committee,
which meets and reports to the Board monthly.
The focus of the committee is to seek the
independent evidence to provide the Trust
Board with the assurances that all internal
control and risk management processes are in
place. Agendas are alternated between clinical
and financial matters. During the year the
Audit Committee has in particular reported to
the Trust Board the effectiveness of the
– Clinical Governance structures and
reporting systems
– Incident Reporting systems
– The roll out of the Trust’s Integrated
Care Record
– The processes followed to sign off the
Standards for Better Health assessment
• Internal Audit – The audit plan is broad based,
covering reviews of both clinical and financial
systems, and was informed following
discussions with the Chair of Audit Committee,
and Executive Directors, having taken into
account the top strategic risks arising from the
Assurance Framework. The Head of Internal
Audit Opinion has confirmed that significant
assurance can be given that the internal
control systems are fit for purpose.
• The number of external reviews and
assurance mechanisms in place, namely;

– The Clinical negligence scheme for Trusts
(CNST) – Level 1 achieved at 96%. No
concerns identified in claims brought againt
the Trust
– The Mental Health Act Commission reports
– Healthcare Commission Reviews
– External Audit reports and Management
Letter
– National patient safety agency reports
– Incident Reporting systems
– Complaints
– Patient and Staff Surveys
– Rowan Reviews of Older Adult Inpatient
Facilities
– PEAT inspections
– Clinical Audit

always lend itself to high quality, patient centred
care. As a result of this report, the Trust put in
place a rapid action plan to improve in particular
the consistency of the information provided to
service users on admission to our wards, the
range of therapeutic activities including internet
access and the robustness of the integrated care
planning process and documentation. This action
plan was agreed by the Healthcare Commission,
and was monitored closely by myself and the
Trust Board such that we were satisfied by
December 2008 that consistently high standards
had been achieved.
As a result of identifying this inconsistency in
approach, I also implemented a change in
operating structure aligned to programmes of
care instead of being focussed on geographical
PCT district. This will ensure that our service
users can be assured of a common approach to
their care wherever they present.
Conclusion

As Accounting officer, I can confirm that
BSMHFT has a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the
organisation’s plans, aims and objectives and that
the Statement of Internal Control is a balanced
reflection of the systems in place during
2008/09.

Signed: Sue Turner
Chief Executive

Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS
Foundation Trust
Date: 27 May 2009

Annual Health Check performance and
Standards for Better Health, where we have
declared full compliance for the whole of
2008/09.

During 2008/09, the Trust did receive a report
from the Healthcare Commission on a review
undertaken in 2007 of our inpatient services,
across 18 different adult acute wards. This
concluded that there was an inconsistent
approach being adopted at times, which did not
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of
Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust
I have audited the financial statements of
Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS
Foundation Trust for the period ended 31
March 2009 under the National Health
Service Act 2006. The financial statements
comprise the Income and Expenditure
Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow
Statement, the Statement of Total
Recognised Gains and Losses and the
related notes. These financial statements
have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out within them. I have also
audited the information in the Remuneration
Report that is described as having
been audited.

This report is made solely to the Board of
Governors of Birmingham & Solihull Mental
Health NHS Foundation Trust as a body in
accordance with paragraph 24(5) of
Schedule 7 of the National Health Service
Act 2006. My work was undertaken so that
I might state to the Board of Governors
those matters I am required to state to it in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
In those circumstances, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, I do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the
Foundation Trust as a body, for my audit
work, for the audit report or for the
opinions I form.
Respective responsibilities of the
Accounting Officer and auditor

The Accounting Officer’s responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements in
accordance with directions made by the
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts (Monitor) are set out in the Statement
of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities.
My responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with statute,
the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts
and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland).

I report to you my opinion as to whether the
financial statements give a true and fair view
in accordance with the accounting policies
directed by Monitor as being relevant to
NHS Foundation Trusts. I report whether the
financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with
the accounting policies directed by Monitor
as being relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts.
I also report to you whether, in my opinion,
the information which comprises the
Financial Performance Section and the
Accounts included in the Annual Report, are
consistent with the financial statements.
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I review whether the Accounting Officer’s
statement on internal control reflects
compliance with the requirements of Monitor
contained in the NHS Foundation Trust
Financial Reporting Manual 2008/09.
I report if it does not meet the requirements
specified by Monitor or if the statement is
misleading or inconsistent with other
information I are aware of from my audit of
the financial statements. I am not required to
consider, nor have I considered, whether the
Accounting Officer’s statement on internal
control covers all risks and controls. Neither
am I required to form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Trust's corporate
governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

I read the other information contained in the
Annual Report and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited financial
statements. This other information comprises
the Chair’s & Chief Executive’s Statement,
and the sections entitled About out Trust,
Our mission and strategic goals, our portfolio
of services, Operating Financial Review,
Investing in and valuing our workforce,
Communicating and working in partnership,
Developing modern, safe and quality
environments and services, Join our Trust,
Board of Directors, and the un-audited part
of the Remuneration Report. I consider the
implications for my report if I become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements.
My responsibilities do not extend to any
other information.
Basis of audit opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the
National Health Service Act 2006 and the
Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts
issued by Monitor, which requires compliance
with International Standards on Auditing
(United Kingdom and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Trust's
circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
I planned and performed my audit so as to
obtain all the information and explanations
which I considered necessary in order to

provide me with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that:
• the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error; and
• the financial statements and the part of
the Remuneration Report to be audited
have been properly prepared.
In forming my opinion I also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements
and the part of the Remuneration Report
to be audited.
Opinion

In my opinion:
• the financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of
Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health
Foundation Trust as at 31 March 2009
and of its income and expenditure for the
period then ended in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted by the Trust;
• the part of the Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the accounting policies
directed by Monitor as being relevant to
NHS Foundation Trusts; and
• information which comprises the Financial
Performance and the Accounts, included
in the annual report, are consistent with
the financial statements.
Certificate
I certify that I have completed the audit
of the accounts in accordance with the
requirements of the National Health Service
Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Mark Stocks
Officer of the Audit Commission
No1 Friarsgate, 1011 Stratford Road
Solihull, B90 4EB
Date: 8 June 2009

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE NINE MONTH PERIOD ENDED
31 March 2009

NOTE

9 months ended
31 March 2009
£000

Income from activities

3

144,209

Other operating income

4

24,778

Operating expenses

5-7

(163,466)
GGGGGGGGGGGGG

OPERATING SURPLUS
Profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets

5,521
8

(2)
GGGGGGGGGGGGG

SURPLUS BEFORE INTEREST
Interest receivable
Interest payable
Other finance costs - unwinding of discount

5,519
9
16

507
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG

SURPLUS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Public dividend capital dividends payable

6,026
(3,842)
GGGGGGGGGGGGG

SURPLUS AFTER DIVIDEND

2,184

Exceptional item

(10,202)
GGGGGGGGGGGGG

RETAINED DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR

(8,018)
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

The notes on pages 63 to 85 form part of these accounts.
All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
These accounts, for the 9 month period ended 31 March 2009, have been prepared by the BSMHFT in accordance with
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006. The Trust acquired Foundation Trust
status on 1 July 2008 and so no comparator figures are included (other than the opening balance sheet at 1 July 2008).
The exceptional items relate to downward revaluations of fixed assets.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT
31 March 2009
31 March
2009
£000

NOTE
FIXED ASSETS

1 July
2008
£000
As restated

10
11
14

0
125,523
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
125,523

0
154,268
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGG
154,268

Stocks and work in progress
Debtors
Other financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand

12
13
14
19.3

524
11,255
0
19,862
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
31,641

342
11,403
0
14,566
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
26,311

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year
Financial liabilities

15.1
16

Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Financial assets

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

(20,177)
0

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

11,464
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

9,143
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

136,987

163,411

0
0

0
0

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year 15.2
16
Financial liabilities
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

17

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED

(17,167)
0

(588)

(662)

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
136,399
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
162,749
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

100,027
26,890
2,042
7,440

101,667
43,088
2,901
15,093

FINANCED BY:
TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Donated asset reserve
Income and expenditure reserve

22
18
18
18

TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
136,399
162,749
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
The financial statements on pages 59 to 85 were approved by the Board on 27 May 2009 and signed on its behalf by:
Signed: …
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Sue T

urner (Chief Executive)

Date: 2
… 7 May 2009

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES FOR THE NINE MONTH PERIOD ENDED
31 March 2009
Period ending
31 March 2009
£000
6,026

Surplus for the financial year before dividend payments
Fixed asset impairment losses

(10,202)

Reduction in the donated asset reserve due to depreciation, impairment, and/or
disposal of donated assets

(859)

Unrealised deficit on fixed asset revaluations

(15,833)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

Total recognised gains and losses for the period

(20,868)

Prior period adjustment

(162)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

Total gains and losses recognised in the period

(21,030)
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Reduction in the donated asset reserve is due to the depreciation, impairment and disposal of donated assets.
"The prior period adjustment relates to a change in accounting policy for the treatment of government grants
in line with the NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual. Previously government grants used to fund
capital expenditure were credited to a government grant reserve and released over the life of the asset.
Under the revised accounting policy the government grant reserve has been restated as deferred income
in the balance sheet.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE NINE MONTH PERIOD ENDED
31 March 2009
31 March 2009
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

NOTE

£000

19.1

13,073

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE:
Interest received
Interest paid

507
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

Net cash inflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance

507

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
(Payments) to acquire tangible fixed assets
Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from capital expenditure
DIVIDENDS PAID
Net cash inflow before management of liquid resources and financing
MANAGEMENT OF LIQUID RESOURCES
(Purchase) of financial assets with the Department of Health
(Purchase) of other current financial assets
Sale of financial assets with the Department of Health
Sale of other current financial asset
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from management of liquid resources
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing

(3,160)
1,638
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
(1,522)
(5,122)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
6,936
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
6,936
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

FINANCING
Public dividend capital received
Public dividend capital repaid
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing
Increase in cash
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(1,640)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
(1,640)
5,296
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the
NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2008/09 NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting
Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow UK generally accepted accounting
practice for companies (UK GAAP) and HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the accounts."

1.1

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of tangible
fixed assets at their value to the business by reference to their current costs. NHS foundation trusts, in compliance with HM
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, are not required to comply with the FRS 3 requirements to report “earnings per
share” or historical profits and losses.

1.2

Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' where they meet all of the following conditions:
a) the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector body) or termination is
completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the commencement of the subsequent period and
the date on which the financial statements are approved;
b) if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;
c) the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting Foundation Trust's operations and
represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its withdrawal from a particular activity or from
a material reduction in income in the Trust's continuing operations; and
d) the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and for
financial reporting purposes.
Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.
Activities are considered to be 'acquired' whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.

1.3

Income Recognition
Income is accounted for applying the accruals convention. The main source of income for the Trust is from commissioners
in respect of healthcare services provided under local agreements. Income is recognised in the period in which services are
provided. Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income
is deferred.

1.4

Expenditure
Expenditure is accounted for using the accruals convention.

1.5

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in a Trust's activities for more than one year; they can
be valued; and they have a cost of at least £5,000.
Intangible fixed assets held for operational use are valued at historical cost and are depreciated over the estimated life of
the asset on a straight line basis. The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first
full year following acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable.
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at least £5,000 is
incurred. They are amortised over the shorter of the term of the licence and their useful economic lives.
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1.6

Tangible fixed assets
Capitalisation
Borrowing costs associated with the construction of new assets are not capitalised.
Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable of being used for a period which exceeds one year and they:
– individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or
– collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or
– form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
Valuation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at the lower of replacement cost and recoverable amount. On initial recognition they are
measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including any costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them
into working condition. The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The costs arising from financing the
construction of the fixed asset are not capitalised but are charged to the income and expenditure account in the year to
which they relate.
All land and buildings are revalued using professional valuations in accordance with FRS15 every five years. A three yearly
interim valuation is also carried out.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The last asset valuations were undertaken in 2009 as at the prospective valuation
date of 1 April 2009. The revaluation undertaken at that date was accounted for on 31 March 2009.
The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost for specialised operational property
and Existing Use Value for non-specialised operational property. The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at
Existing Use Value. For non-operational properties including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at Open Market
Value.
Additional alternative Open Market Value figures have only been supplied for operational assets scheduled for imminent
closure and subsequent disposal.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five or threeyearly valuation or when they are brought into use.
Residual interests in off-balance sheet private finance initiative (PFI) properties are included in assets under construction
within tangible fixed assets at the amount of unitary charge allocated for the acquisition of the residual with an adjustment.
The adjustment is the net present value of the change in the fair value of the residual as estimated at the start of the
contract and at the balance sheet date.
Operational equipment is carried at current value. Where assets are of low value, and/or have short useful economic lives,
these are carried at depreciated historic cost as a proxy for current value. Equipment surplus to requirements is valued at
net recoverable amount.
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets surplus to requirements.
Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-balance sheet PFI contract assets are not depreciated until
the asset is brought into use or reverts to the Trust, respectively.
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Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of the asset as
advised by the Valuer. Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.
Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life of the asset.
Assets are depreciated over the following periods:
– Buildings excluding dwellings
9 - 60 years
– Dwellings
8 - 23 years
– Plant & Machinery
5 - 15 years
– Transport Equipment
7 years
– Information Technology
5 - 8 years
– Furniture and Fittings
5 - 10 years

Where the useful economic life of an asset is reduced from that initially estimated due to the revaluation of an asset for
sale, depreciation is charged to bring the value of the asset to its value at the point of sale.

Fixed asset impairments resulting from losses of economic benefits are charged to the income and expenditure account. All
other impairments are taken to the revaluation reserve and reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.
1.7

Donated fixed assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value on receipt and this value is credited to the Donated Asset
Reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and depreciated as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on
revaluations are also taken to the Donated Asset Reserve and, each year, an amount equal to the depreciation charge on
the asset is released from the Donated Asset Reserve to the Income and Expenditure account. Similarly, any impairment on
donated assets charged to the Income and Expenditure Account is matched by a transfer from the Donated Asset Reserve.
On sale of donated assets, the value of the sale proceeds is transferred from the Donated Asset Reserve to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve.

1.8

Government Grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for the
provision of services. Grants from the Department of Health, including those for achieving three star status, are accounted
for as Government grants as are grants from the Big Lottery Fund. Where the Government grant is used to fund revenue
expenditure it is taken to the Income and Expenditure account to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund
capital expenditure the grant is held as deferred income and released to the income and expenditure account over the life
of the asset on a basis consistent with the depreciation charge for that asset."

1.9

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions
The NHS follows HM Treasury's Technical Note 1 (Revised) "How to Account for PFI transactions" which provides practical
guidance for the application of the Application Note F to FRS 5 and the guidance 'Land and Buildings in PFI schemes
Version 2'.

Where the balance of the risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property are borne by the PFI operator, the PFI
obligations are recorded as an operating expense. Where the trust has contributed assets, a prepayment for their fair value
is recognised and amortised over the life of the PFI contract by charge to the Income and Expenditure Account. Where, at
the end of the PFI contract, a property reverts to the Trust, the difference between the expected fair value of the residual on
reversion and any agreed payment on reversion is built up over the life of the contract by capitalising part of the unitary
charge each year, as a tangible fixed asset.
Where the balance of risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property are borne by the Trust, it is recognised as a fixed
asset along with the liability to pay for it which is accounted for as a finance lease. Contract payments are apportioned
between an imputed finance lease charge and a service charge.

1.10 Stocks and work-in-progress
Stocks and work-in-progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. This is considered to be a reasonable
approximation to current cost due to the high turnover of stocks. Work-in-progress comprises goods in intermediate stages
of production.
1.11 Research and development
Expenditure on research is not capitalised. Expenditure on development is capitalised if it meets the following criteria:

– there is a clearly defined project;
– the related expenditure is separately identifiable;
– the outcome of the project has been assessed with reasonable certainty as to:
its technical feasibility;
its resulting in a product or service which will eventually be brought into use;
– adequate resources exist, or are reasonably expected to be available, to enable the project to be completed and to
provide any consequential increases in working capital.
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Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It is revalued on the basis
of current cost. The amortisation charge is calculated on the same basis as used for depreciation i.e. on a quarterly basis.
Expenditure which does not meet the criteria for capitalisation is treated as an operating cost in the year in which it is
incurred. NHS Foundation Trusts are unable to disclose the total amount of research and development expenditure charged
in the income and expenditure account because some research and development activity cannot be separated from patient
care activity.
Fixed assets acquired for use in research and development are amortised over the life of the associated project.

1.12 Cash, bank and overdrafts
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the current values of these balances in the Foundation Trust's cash
book. These balances exclude monies held in the Foundation Trust's bank account belonging to patients (see accounting
policy on 'third party assets'). Account balances are only set off where a formal agreement has been made with the bank to
do so. In all other cases overdrafts are disclosed within creditors. Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on
overdrafts is recorded as respectively, "interest receivable" and "interest payable" in the periods to which they relate. Bank
charges are recorded as operating expenditure in the periods to which they relate.
1.13 Provisions
The Foundation Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the balance
sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the Treasury's discount rate of
2.2% in real terms.
Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future
events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in note 21 where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are provided for where a transfer of economic benefits is probable. Otherwise, they are not recognised,
but are disclosed in note 21 unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are
defined as:
Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will arise or
for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Foundation Trust. The total
value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 17.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are
risk pooling schemes under which the Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses'
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
1.14 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable
under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The Scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying Scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for
as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, based on a five year valuation cycle), and a
FRS17 accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into
account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme
members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2004 and
covered the period from 1 April 1999 to that date.
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The conclusion from the 2004 valuation was that the Scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3 billion against the
notional assets as at 31 March 2004. However, after taking into account the changes in the benefit and contribution
structure effective from 1 April 2008, the Scheme actuary reported that employer contributions could continue at the
existing rate of 14% of pensionable pay. On advice from the Scheme actuary, scheme contributions may be varied from
time to time to reflect changes in the scheme’s liabilities. Up to 31 March 2008, the vast majority of employees paid
contributions at the rate of 6% of pensionable pay. From 1 April 2008, employees contributions are on a tiered scale from
5% up to 8.5% of their pensionable pay depending on total earnings.
b) FRS17 Accounting valuation
In accordance with FRS17, a valuation of the Scheme liability is carried out annually by the Scheme Actuary as at the
balance sheet date by updating the results of the full actuarial valuation.
Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is provided to the Scheme
Actuary. At this point the assumptions regarding the composition of the Scheme membership are updated to allow the
Scheme liability to be valued
The valuation of the Scheme liability as at 31 March 2009, is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 2006
(the latest midpoint) updated to 31 March 2009 with summary global member and accounting data. The latest assessment
of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the Scheme Actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme (England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions
website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
Scheme Provisions as at 31 March 2009
The scheme is a 'final salary' scheme.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The
full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the income and expenditure account at the time the Trust
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The Scheme provides the opportunity to members to increase their benefits through money purchase Additional Voluntary
Contributions (AVCs) provided by an approved panel of life companies. Under the arrangement the employee/member can
make contributions to enhance an employee's pension benefits. The benefits payable relate directly to the value of the
investments made. From 1 April 2008 a voluntary additional pension facility becomes available, under which members may
purchase up to £5,000 per annum of additional pension at a cost determined by the actuary from time-to-time.
Early payment of a pension is available to members of the Scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties
effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five
times their annual pension for death after retirement, less pension already paid, subject to a maximum amount equal to
twice the member’s final year’s pensionable pay less their retirement lump sum for those who die after retirement, is
payable.
Existing members at 1 April 2008
Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th of the best of the last 3 years pensionable pay for each year of service. A
lump sum normally equivalent to 3 years pension is payable on retirement. From 1 April 2008 there is the opportunity of
giving up some of the pension to increase the retirement lump sum. Annual increases are applied to pension payments at
rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending
30 September in the previous calendar year. On death, a pension of 50% of the member’s pension is normally payable to
the surviving spouse or eligible unmarried partner.
New entrants from 1 April 2008
Annual pensions for new entrants from 1 April 2008 will be based on 1/60th of the best three-year average of pensionable
earnings in the ten years before retirement. Members wishing to obtain a retirement lump sum may give up some of this
pension to obtain a retirement lump of up to 25% of the total value of their retirement benefits. Survivor pensions will be
available to married and unmarried partners and will be equal to 37.5% of the member's pension.
1.15 Liquid resources
Deposits and other investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash at or close to their carrying
amounts are treated as liquid resources in the cashflow statement. The Trust does not hold any investments with maturity
dates exceeding one year from the date of purchase.
1.16 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated
net of VAT.
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1.17 Foreign Exchange
Transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates
of the transactions. Resulting exchange gains and losses are taken to the Income and Expenditure Account.
1.18 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the
Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details of third party assets are given in Note 29 to the accounts.
1.19 Corporation Tax
The Trust does not perform any activities which would give rise to a corporation tax liability.
1.20 Leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation Trust, the asset
is recorded as a tangible fixed asset and a debt is recorded to the lessor of the minimum lease payments discounted by the
interest rate implicit in the lease.
The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
The interest element of the finance lease payment is charged to the Income and Expenditure Account over the period of
the lease at a constant rate in relation to the balance outstanding. Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the
rentals are charged to the Income and Expenditure Account on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
1.21 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the
time of establishment of the original NHS Foundation Trust.
A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Foundation Trust, is paid over as public dividend capital
dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average net relevant assets
of the Foundation Trust. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except
for donated assets and cash held with the Office of the Paymaster General. Average relevant net assets are calculated as
a simple mean of opening and closing relevant net assets.
1.22 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way each individual case is handled.
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Income and Expenditure Account on
an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been
bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.23 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are defined as contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity. The Trust will commonly have the following financial assets and liabilities: trade debtors (but not
prepayments), current asset investments, cash at bank and in hand, trade creditors (but not deferred income), finance lease
obligations, loans, provisions.
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as
goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are
recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is
made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised
and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described above.
Regular way purchases or sales are recognised and de-recognised, as applicable, using the trade date.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.
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De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust has
transferred substantially all of the risk and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:
• Financial assets 'at fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or
• Loans and receivables’ or
• Available-for-sale' financial assets or
• Held-to-maturity' investments."
"Financial liabilities are classified as either:
• Financial liabilities 'at fair value through Income and Expenditure’ or
• ‘Other financial liabilities’.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or financial
liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Derivatives which are embedded in other contracts but which are not ‘closely-related’ to those contracts are
separated-out from those contracts and measured in this category. Assets and liabilities in this category are classified as
current assets and current liabilities.
These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs expensed in the
income and expenditure account. Subsequent movements in the fair value are recognised as gains or losses in the income
and expenditure account.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in an
active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash at bank and in hand, NHS debtors, accrued income and ‘other debtors’.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the income and
expenditure account, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
Other financial liabilities
All 'other' financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts
exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the balance sheet date, which
are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to the
income and expenditure account.
Impairment of financial assets
At the balance sheet date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through
income and expenditure’ is impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if,
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The loss is recognised in the income and expenditure account and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account/bad debt provision.
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2

Segmental Analysis

The Trust has acted as a host for CSIP West Midlands during the period. Therefore income and expenditure for the nine month
period to 31 March 2009 has been analysed between the Trust and CSIP.

Income from activities
Other operating income
Operating expenses
Operating surplus

CSIP
£000

Trust
£000

Total
£000

11,261
0

132,948
24,778

144,209
24,778

(11,262)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

(1)
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

(152,204)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

5,522
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

(163,466)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

5,521
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

From 1 April 2009 CSIP West Midlands will be hosted by the West Midlands Strategic Health Authority.
3

Income from Activities

3.1

Income from Activities - by source

Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000

Strategic Health Authorities
NHS Trusts
Primary Care Trusts
Foundation Trusts
Local Authorities
Non NHS:
- Private patients
- Other
3.2

Income from Activities - by type

5,286
35
138,779
6
7
0
96
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
144,209
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000

Cost and Volume contract income
Block contract income
Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services
Clinical income for the secondary commissioning of mandatory services
Other clinical income from mandatory services

101,879
42,330
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
144,209
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

The Trust's Terms of Authorisation set out the mandatory goods and services that the Trust is required to provide.
For the nine month period to 31 March 2009 the income from activities is split as follows:

Income relating to mandatory services
Income relating to non-mandatory services
3.3

£000
141,250
2,959
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
144,209
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Private Patient Income

Under the Terms of Authorisation the Trust must ensure that the proportion of private patient income to the total patient related
income should not exceed its proportion whilst the body was an NHS Trust in 2002/03 (the base year). The Trust had £nil private
patient income in 2002/03 and therefore is not permitted to generate private patient income. No private patient income was
received during the nine month period to 31 March 2009.
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4 Other Operating Income

Patient transport services
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Transfers from Donated Asset Reserve
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Other income

Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000
6,558
208
56
2,484
995
14,477
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
24,778
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

5. Operating Expenses
5.1 Operating expenses comprise:

Services from other NHS Trusts
Services from PCTs
Services from other NHS bodies
Services from Foundation Trusts
Directors' costs
Staff costs
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Consultancy services*
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairment of debtors
Depreciation
Tangible fixed asset impairments and reversals
Audit services - statutory audit
Other auditor's remuneration
Clinical negligence
Other
*Consultancy costs includes £1,158k relating to CSIP.
5.2

Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000
153
2,563
997
4,850
698
116,150
5,307
3,089
2,460
3,448
773
14,800
462
2,527
900
46
0
230
4,013
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
163,466
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Operating leases

5.2-1 Operating expenses include:

Hire of plant and machinery
Other operating lease rentals

Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000
101
5,969
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
6,070
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
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5.2-2 Annual commitments under non - cancellable operating leases are:
Land and buildings
Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000

Other leases
Nine months ending
31 March 2009
£000

0
0
8,436
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
8,436
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

296
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
296
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Operating leases which expire:
Within 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
After 5 years
6.

Staff costs and numbers

6.1

Staff costs

Nine months ending 31 March 2009

£000

Permanently
Employed
£000

£000

98,794
7,191

94,751
7,191

4,043
0

10,772
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
116,757
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

10,772
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
112,714
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
4,043
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Total

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employer contributions to NHS BSA Pensions Division
Other pension costs
6.2

Average number of persons employed

Nine months ending 31 March 2009

£000
Number

Permanently
Employed
£000
Number

£000
Number

290
0
621
784
1,385
0
443
0
236
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,759
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

283
0
574
778
1,333
0
432
0
222
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,622
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

7
0
47
6
52
0
11
0
14
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
137
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Total

Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff
Other

Total
6.3

Other

Other

Employee benefits

No employee benefits were paid during the nine month period to 31 March 2009.
6.4

Retirements due to ill-health

During the nine month period to 31 March 2009 there were 5 early retirements from the NHS Trust agreed on the grounds of
ill-health. The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £258k. The cost of these ill-health
retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
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7. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
No interest has been paid under this legislation during the nine month period to 31 March 2009.
8. Other gains and losses

Nine months ending 31 March 2009
£000

(Loss) on disposal of plant and equipment

9. Finance Costs & Interest receiveable
Interest Receivable
Bank accounts

2
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
2
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
Nine months ending 31 March 2009
£000
507
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
507
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

TOTAL

No finance costs were paid during the period.
10. Intangible Fixed Assets

Gross cost at 1 July 2008
Indexation
Impairments
Reclassifications
Revaluation
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Disposals

Gross cost at 31 March 2009
Amortisation at 1 July 2008
Indexation
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Reclassifications
Revaluation
Charged during the period
Disposals

Amortisation at 31 March 2009

Net book value
- Purchased at 1 July 2008
- Donated at 1 July 2008
- Government granted at 1 July 2008

- Total at 1 July 2008

- Purchased at 31 March 2009
- Donated at 31 March 2009
- Government granted at 31 March 2009
- Total at 31 March 2009

Software Development
licences expenditure
£000
£000
253
21
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
253
21
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Total
£000
274
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
274
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

253
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
253
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

21
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
21
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

274
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
274
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
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11. Tangible Fixed Assets
11.1 Tangible fixed assets at the balance sheet date comprise the following elements:
Land

Cost or valuation at 1 July 2008
Additions purchased
Impairments
Reclassifications
Indexation
Revaluation
Disposals

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2009

Depreciation at 1 July 2008
Charged during the period
Impairments
Reversal of Impairments
Reclassifications
Indexation
Revaluation
Disposals

Depreciation at 31 March 2009

Net book value
- Purchased at 1 July 2008
- Donated at 1 July 2008
- Government granted at 1 July 2008
- Total at 1 July 2008

- Purchased at 31 March 2009
- Donated at 31 March 2009
- Government granted at 31 March 2009

- Total at 31 March 2009

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

£000
72,631
0
0
1,726
0
(21,473)
(1,640)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
51,244
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
83,237
1,205
(825)
0
0
(15,408)
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
68,209
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
697
0
0
0
0
(265)
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
432
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

8174
2,011
0
0
0
0
(10,185)
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

99
24
0
0
0
0
(123)
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

70,984
1,647
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
72,631
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

73,664
1,243
155
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
75,062
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

598
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
598
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

50,094
1,150
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
51,244
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

67,013
1,061
135
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
68,209
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

432
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
432
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Residual Interest of £735k for an off balance sheet PFI scheme is included in AUC (30 June 2008: £395k).
11.2 Asset Financing

Net book value 31 March 2009
Protected assets
Non protected assets
Total 31 March 2009
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Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

£000

£000

£000

34,440
16,804
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
51,244
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

57,109
11,100
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
68,209
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
432
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
432
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Assets under
construct
and payments
on account

Plant and
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000
3,003
1,520
(75)
(1,726)
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
2,722
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
1,928
0
0
0
0
0
(23)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,905
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
93
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
93
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
2,599
420
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,019
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
3,507
15
0
0
0
0
(16)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,506
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

£000
167,695
3,160
(900)
0
0
(37,146)
(1,679)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
131,130
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

1,722
40
0
0
0
0
0
(23)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,739
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

90
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
92
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

1,647
215
0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,862
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

1,694
236
0
0
0
0
0
(16)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,914
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

13,426
2,528
0
0
0
0
(10,308)
(38)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
5,607
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

3,003
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,003
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

116
90
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
206
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

3
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

952
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
952
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

1,813
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,813
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

151,133
2,980
155
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
154,268
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

2,722
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
2,722
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

86
80
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
166
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

1
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

1,157
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,157
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

1,592
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,592
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

123,097
2,291
135
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
125,523
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Assets under
construct
and payments
on account

Plant and
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0
2,722
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
2,722
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
166
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
166
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
1
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
1,157
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,157
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
1,592
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,592
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

91,549
33,974
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
125,523
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR
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11.3 No assets were held under finance lease or on balance sheet PFI contracts
at the balance sheet date (30 June 2008: £nil)
11.4 The net book value of land, buildings and dwellings at 31 March 2009 comprises:

Freehold
Long Leasehold
Short Leasehold

TOTAL
12.

Stocks and Work in Progress

Raw materials and consumables
TOTAL
13.

31 March 2009
£000

30 June 2008
£000

119,885
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
119,885
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

148,291
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
148,291
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

31 March 2009
£000

30 June 2008
£000

524
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
524
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

342
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
342
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

31 March 2009
£000

30 June 2008
£000

Debtors

13.1 Debtors at the balance sheet date are made up of:
Amounts falling due within one year:
NHS debtors
Provision for impairment of debtors
Other prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

Sub Total: falling due within one year

4,179
(568)
2,091
2,352
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
8,054

5,482
(173)
1,623
1,172
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
8,104

3,201
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,201
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
11,255
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

3,299
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
3,299
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
11,403
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Other prepayments and accrued income

Sub Total: falling due after more than one year
TOTAL

Other debtors include £nil prepaid pension contributions at 31 March 2009 (£nil at 30 June 2008)
13.2 Provision for impairment of debtors
Balance at
Amount written off during the year
Amount recovered during the year
Decrease/(increase) in debtors impaired

Balance at

13.3 Debtors past due date but not impaired:
By up to 3 months
By 3 to 6 months
By more than 6 months
TOTAL
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31 March 2009
£000
(173)
4
63
(462)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
(568)
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

30 June 2008
£000
(119)
20
0
(74)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
(173)
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

31 March 2009
£000

30 June 2008
£000

7,552
502
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
8,054
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

6,724
1,380
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
8,104
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

14.

Other Financial Assets

No other financial assets were held at 31 March 2009 (30 June 2008: £nil).

15.

Creditors

15.1 Creditors at the balance sheet date are made up of:

Amounts falling due within one year:

31 March 2009
£000
As restated

30 June 2008
£000

2,572
4,118
350
0
3,183
1,844
8,110
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
20,177
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

2,174
2,641
270
0
3,005
3,138
5,940
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
17,167
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
20,177
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
17,167
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

NHS creditors
Non - NHS trade creditors - revenue
Non - NHS trade creditors - capital
Tax
Social security costs
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

Sub Total: amounts falling due within one year
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Long - term loans
NHS creditors
Other

Sub Total: amounts falling due in more than one year
TOTAL

Other creditors include:
£1,763k outstanding pensions contributions at 31 March 2009 (30 June 2008 £1,668k).
15.2 Prudential Borrowing Limit
The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit which is made up of two elements:
1. The Maximum Cumulative amount of long term borrowing. This is set by reference to the five ratio tests set out in Monitor's
Prudential Borrowing Code. The financial risk rating set under Monitor's Compliance framework determines one of the ratios and
therefore can impact on the long term borrowing limit.
The minimum dividend cover for the period was 2.5
2. The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor
The Trust has an approved prudential borrowing limit of £36m.
The Trust has borrowed £nil during the nine months to 31 March 2009
The Trust has a £16m working capital facility. The Trust had drawn down £nil of its working capital facility at 31st March 2009
15.3 Loans and other long-term financial liabilities
No loans or other long term financial liabilities were held at the balance sheet date.
15.4 Finance lease obligations
No finance leases were held at the balance sheet date.
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15.5 Finance Lease Commitments
Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust has not entered into any finance leases during the period.
16

Other Financial Liabilities

No other financial liabilities are held at 31 March 2009 (30 June 2008: £nil).
17

Provisions for liabilities and charges

At 1 July 2008
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2009

Legal claims
£000
321
208
(258)
(5)
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
266
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Other
£000
341
0
(19)
0
0
322

Total
£000
662
208
(277)
(5)
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
588
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Expected timing of cashflows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

266
0
0

322
0
0

The legal claims provision is made up of employment liability cases against the Trust and is calculated based on the best
estimates available at the balance sheet date.
The 'other' provisions are made up of injury allowance provisions.
£511k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2009 in respect of clinical
negligence liabilities of the Birmingham & Solihull Mental Health NHS Trust (30 June 2008 £508k).

78

588
0
0

18

Movements on Reserves

Movements on reserves in the year comprised the following:

£000

Donated
Asset
Reserve
£000

43,088
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

2,901
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

43,088

2,901

0

15,093

61,082

Transfer from the income and expenditure account

0

0

0

6,026

6,026

Public dividend capital dividends

0

0

0

(3,842)

(3,842)

Fixed asset impairments

0

0

0

Revaluation
Reserve

At 1 July 2008 as previously stated
PPA:other
At 1 July 2008 as restated

Surplus/(deficit) on other revaluations/indexation of
fixed/current assets

(15,833)

(803)

Government
Grant
Reserve
£000
162
(162)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

0

Income and
Expenditure
Reserve
£000
15,093
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

0
(10,202)

Total
£000
61,244
(162)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

0
(26,838)

Transfer of realised profits/(losses) to the income
and expenditure reserve

0

0

0

0

0

Transfers to the income and expenditure account for
depreciation, impairment, and disposal of donated/
government granted assets

0

(56)

0

0

(56)

0

0

365

Other transfers between reserves
At 31 March 2009
18

(365)

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
26,890
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
2,042
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
7,440
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
36,372
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Movements on Reserves

18.1 Movement in Taxpayers Equity

Taxpayers equity as at 1 July 2008
Prior period adjustment

31 March 2009
£000
162,911
(162)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

Taxpayers equity as at 1 July 2008 restated

162,749

Surplus for the financial period
Public dividend capital dividends
Deficit from revaluations of fixed assets and current asset investments
New public dividend capital received
Reductions in donated asset reserve

6,026
(3,842)
(26,838)
(1,640)
(56)

Tax payers' equity as at 31 March 2009

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
136,399
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19

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

19. 1 Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash flow from operating activities:
31 March 2009
£000
Total operating surplus
Depreciation and amortisation charge
Asset impairments and reversals, and movement in financial instruments
Transfer from Donated Asset Reserve
Decrease/(increase) in stocks
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
Decrease/(increase) in provisions

5,521
2,527
900
(56)
(182)
148
4,289
(74)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

Net cash inflow from operating activities before restructuring costs

13,073
0

Payments in respect of fundamental reorganisation/restructuring

GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
13,073
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Net cash inflow from operating activities
19.2 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds

31 March 2009
£000
Increase/(decrease) in cash in the period
Cash (inflow) from new funds
Cash outflow from debt repaid and finance lease capital payments
Cash (inflow)/outflow from (decrease)/increase in liquid resources

5,296
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
5,296
0
14,566
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
19,862
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows
Non - cash changes in funds
Net funds at 1 July 2008
Net funds at 31 March 2009

19.3 Analysis of changes in net funds
At 1 July 2008

Cash
Transferred
(to)/from other
NHS bodies
£000
£000

OPG cash at bank
Commercial cash at bank and in hand
Bank overdraft
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14,524
42
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
14,566
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Other cash
changes in
year

Non-cash
changes in
year

At 31 March
2009

£000

£000

£000

5,254
42
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
5,296
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

19,778
84
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
19,862
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

Capital Commitments

Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2009 were £689k (30 June 2008 £714k)
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21

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities
Net value of contingent liabiliies
Contingent Assets

31 March
2009

30 June
2008

£000

£000

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

The contingency relates to employment liability cases.
22 Calculation of Dividend Paid on Public Dividend Capital
The Trust is required to absorb the cost of capital at a rate of 3.5% of average relevant net assets. The rate is calculated as the
percentage that dividends paid on public dividend capital, totalling £3,842k, bears to the average relevant net assets of
£129,565k that is 2.97%.
The variance from the target return is due to the dividend reflecting a nine month period and due to the revaluation of fixed assets
at the period end. Excluding the revaluation and accounting for a full year dividend the cost of capital absorbed would be 3.58%.
23 Related Party Transactions
Birmingham & Solihull NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.
During the period none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff had undertaken any material
transactions with Birmingham & Solihull NHS Foundation Trust. Transactions with parties related to Board Members or members
of the key management staff are disclosed below:
Payments
Receipts
Amounts
Amounts
to
Related
owed to
due from
Related Party Related Party Related Party Related Party
Prof P Marquis (Non-Executive/Chairman
University of Birmingham

£000

£000

£000

£000

403

152

5

67

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the period Birmingham & Solihull NHS Foundation Trust has had
a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as
the parent Department. These entities are listed below:
Birmingham East & North Primary Care Trust
Bradford District Care Trust
Camden & Islington Mental Health & SC Trust
Dorset PCT
Dudley Primary Care Trust
East Midlands Strategic Health Authroity
Heart of Birmingham Primary Care Trust
Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS FT
London SHA
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS Litigation Authority
North Essex Mental Health Partnership NHS FT

Pennine Care NHS Trust
Sandwell Primary Care Trust
Solihull Care Trust
South Birmingham Primary Care Trust
South Central Strategic Health Authority
South Staffordshire PCT
Swindon PCT
University Hospital Birmingham NHS FT
Walsall Primary Care Trust
Warwickshire PCT
West Midlands Strategic Health Authority
Worcestershire Primary Care Trust
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23

Related Party Transactions (continued)

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other Government Departments and other central and local
Government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Birmingham City Council in respect of property charges and
social services recharges.
The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable funds, certain of the Trustees for which are
also members of the NHS Trust Board.
At the period end, a balance of £6k was owed by the NHS Charity.
24

Private Finance Transactions

24.1 PFI schemes deemed to be off-balance sheet

Amounts included within operating expenses in respect of PFI transactions
deemed to be off-balance sheet - gross
Amortisation of PFI deferred asset

31 March
2009
£000

30 June
2008
£000

8,372

1,829

(80)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
8,292
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

(47)
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
1,782
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

PFI scheme which expires;
Within one year*
2nd to 5th years (inclusive)*
6th to 10th years (inclusive)*
11th to 15th years (inclusive)*
16th to 20th years (inclusive)*
21st to 25th years (inclusive)*
26th to 30th years (inclusive)*
31st to 35th years (inclusive)*
36th to 40th years (inclusive)*

31 March
2009
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
5,298
0
5,801

30 June
2008
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
5,298
0
5,801

Estimated capital value of the PFI scheme
Contract Start date:
Contract End date:

North PFI
£000
12,400
22/3/02
21/3/37

South PFI
£000
57,756
14/5/08
14/8/46

Net charge to operating expenses

The NHS Trust is committed to make the following
payments during the next year.

The schemes have resulted in the completion of a full range of high quality, inpatient and day patient mental health services for
the population of North and South Birmingham.
The schemes have resulted in guarantees, commitments, rights and obligations.
The deferred assets are recorded at current book value.
Contract payments are due on the 25th of each month.
At the value of the residual interest in fixed assets was £735k.
At the value of deferred assets within debtors was £3,174k.
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24.2 'Service' element of PFI schemes deemed to be on-balance sheet
There were no on balance sheet PFI schemes at the balance sheet date.
25

Financial Instruments

FRS 25 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation) and FRS 29 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures), require disclosure
of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its
activities. The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments and does not hold or issue financial instruments for
speculative trading purposes. Because of the continuing service provider relationship the Trust has with Primary Care Trusts and
the way those Primary Care Trusts are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed companies
to which FRS 25 mainly applies. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its
activities.
The Trust's financial instruments comprise loans, finance lease obligations, provisions, cash at bank and in hand and various items,
such as trade debtors and trade creditors, that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Trust's operations.
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and
sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
Interest-rate risk
The Trust may borrow from Government for capital expenditure subject to affordability as confirmed by the Strategic Health
Authority. The borrowings are for 1-25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National
Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because of the majority of the Trust's income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to
credit risk.
Trade debtors consist of high value transactions with Primary Care Trusts under contractual terms that require settlement of
obligation within a time frame established generally by the Department of Health. Other trade debtors include private and overseas
patients, spread across diverse geographical areas. Credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable
and, where appropriate, sufficient prepayment is required to mitigate the risk of financial loss.
Credit risk exposures of monetary financial assets are managed through the Trust's treasury policy which limits the value that can
be placed with each approved counterparty to minimise the risk of loss. The counterparties are limited to the approved financial
institutions with high credit ratings. Limits are reviewed regularly by senior management.
Liquidity risk
The Trust's new operating costs are incurred under contract with Primary Care Trusts, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The trust funds it capital expenditure from funds obtained within it Prudential Borrowing Limit. The Trust is
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
The Trust also manages liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and loan facilities to meet its short and long term capital
requirements through continuous monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows.
In addition to internally generated resources the Trust has a working capital facility of £16,000,000, unused at 31 March 2009.
Details are included in note 15.
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25.1 Financial Assets
Non-interest
bearing
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
period for
term
which fixed
Years
Years

Fixed rate

Currency
At 31 March 2009
Sterling
Other

Gross financial assets

At 30 June 2008
Sterling
Other

Gross financial assets

Total

Floating
rate

Fixed Non-interest
rate
bearing

£000

£000

£000

£000

%

19,862
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
19,862
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

19,862
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
19,862
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0

0
0

0
0

14,566
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
14,566
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

14,566
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
14,566
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0

0
0

0
0

25.2 Financial Liabilities

Currency
At 31 March 2009
Sterling
Other

Gross financial liabilities

At 30 June 2008
Sterling
Other

Gross financial liabilities

Fixed rate
Fixed Non-interest
rate
bearing

Weighted
average
interest rate

Non-interest
bearing
Weighted
Weighted
average
average
period for
term
which fixed
Years
Years

Total

Floating
rate

£000

£000

£000

£000

%

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0

0
0

0
0

Note: The public dividend capital is of unlimited term.
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Weighted
average
interest rate

25.3 Financial Assets

Embedded derivatives
NHS debtors
Non NHS debtors
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2009

25.4 Financial Liabilities

Embedded derivatives
NHS creditors
Non NHS creditors
Borrowings
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations
Other financial liabilities

Total at 31 March 2009

At 'fair value
through profit
and loss
£000

Loans and
receivables
£000

Available
for sale
£000

Total
£000

0
0
0
19,862
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
19,862
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
19,862
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
19,862
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

At 'fair value
through profit
and loss
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

0
0
0
0
0
0
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
0
RRRRRRRRRRRRRRR

As allowed by FRS 25, short term trade debtors and creditors measured at amortised cost may
be excluded from the above disclosure as their book values reasonably approximate their fair values.
26

Third Party Assets

The Trust held £nil cash at bank and in hand at (30 June 2008: £nil) which relates to monies
held by the NHS Foundation Trust on behalf of patients.
27

Losses and Special Payments

NHS Foundation Trusts are required to report to the Department of Health any losses or special payments, as The Department
still retains responsibility for reporting these to Parliament.
There were 14 cases of losses and special payments totalling £2,172 during the nine month period to 31 March 2009
(20 cases totalling £4,419 during the three month period to 30 June 2009).
28

Post Balance Sheet Event

From 1 April 2009, the Foundation Trust must meet the accounting requirements of the 2009/10 NHS Foundation Trust Financial
Reporting Manual. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts.
Consequently, the 2009/10 financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the 2009/10 NHS Foundation Trust
Financial Reporting Manual issued by Monitor which will includes a restatement of the opening balance sheet in order to comply
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Getting Better, Together. 85

Birmingham and Solihull Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust
Unit 1, B1, 50 Summer Hill Road, Birmingham B1 3RB
Tel: 0121 301 2000 (Switchboard)
e-mail: comms.team@bsmhft.nhs.uk
www.bsmhft.nhs.uk
PALS: 24 hour Customer Care Line
Tel: 0800 953 0045
Text: 07985 883 509
Email: PALS@bsmhft.nhs.uk

